
 

Ffon/Tel: 01656 643643 Facs/Fax:01656 668126  Ebost/Email: talktous@bridgend.gov.uk 

Negeseuon SMS/SMS Messaging: 07581 157014 Twitter@bridgendCBC  Gwefan/Website: www.bridgend.gov.uk 

Cyfnewid testun: Rhowch 18001 o flaen unrhyw un o’n rhifau ffon ar gyfer y gwasanaeth trosglwyddo testun 

Test relay: Put 18001 before any of our phone numbers for the text relay service 

Rydym yn croseawu gohebiaeth yn y Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod I ni os yw eich dewis iaith yw’r Gymraeg 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

Rydym yn croesawu gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg. Rhowch wybod i ni os mai Cymraeg yw eich dewis 
iaith. 

We welcome correspondence in Welsh. Please let us know if your language choice is Welsh. 

 
 Cyfarwyddiaeth y Prif Weithredwr / Chief Executive’s Directorate 

Deialu uniongyrchol / Direct line /: 01656 643148 / 643694 / 643513 
Gofynnwch am / Ask for:  Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 

 
Ein cyf / Our ref:       

Eich cyf / Your ref:       
 

Dyddiad/Date: Dydd Iau, 13 Tachwedd 2025 

 
Annwyl Cynghorydd,  
 
CYNGOR 
 
Cynhelir Cyfarfod Cyngor Hybrid yn Siambr y Cyngor - Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr Angel, Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr, CF31 4WB / o bell drwy Microsoft Teams ar Dydd Mercher, 19 Tachwedd 2025 am 
16:00. 
 
AGENDA 
1 Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 

 
Derbyn ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan Aelodau. 
 

2 Datganiadau o fuddiant 
 

Derbyn datganiadau o ddiddordeb personol a rhagfarnol (os o gwbl) gan Aelodau / 
Swyddogion yn unol â darpariaethau'r Cod Ymddygiad Aelodau a fabwysiadwyd gan y 
Cyngor o 1 Medi 2008.  
 

3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion 
7 - 16 

I dderbyn am gymeradwyaeth y Cofnodion cyfarfod y 22/10/2025 
 

4 Cyflwyniad i'r Cyngor gan Materion Iechyd Meddwl
17 - 18 

 
5 I dderbyn cyhoeddiadau oddi wrth: 

 
(i) Maer (neu’r person sy’n llywyddu) 
(ii) Prif Weithredwr 
 

  

Public Document Pack

mailto:talktous@bridgend.gov.uk
http://www.bridgend.gov.uk/


6 Derbyn cyhoeddiadau gan yr Arweinydd
 

 
7 Ymateb Cychwynnol i Asesiad PPA a Newidiadau Arfaethedig i Strwythur Uwch Reoli JNC

19 - 44 
 

8 Diweddariad Chwarter 2 y Rhaglen Gyfalaf 2025-26
45 - 66 

 
9 Adroddiad Hanner Blwyddyn Rheoli'r Trysorlys 2025-26

67 - 90 
 

10 Sylfaen Treth y Cyngor 2026-27
91 - 96 

 
11 Derbyn y Cwestiynau canlynol gan: 

 
Y Cynghorydd Ian Williams at yr Arweinydd 
 
Gyda llawer o sôn yn ystod y blynyddoedd diwethaf am "Gynllun Arbed" yng Nghaerau a 
chyda gwaith bellach ar y gweill i unioni'r problemau a brofwyd gan drigolion ar ôl i 
inswleiddio allanol gael ei osod yn wael ar lawer o eiddo, hoffwn ofyn y canlynol... 
 
1. Faint o eiddo sydd bellach wedi cael y gwaith adfer wedi'i gwblhau? 
 
2. Beth yw cost y gwaith adfer hyd yn hyn a beth yw cyfanswm y gyllideb ar gyfer yr holl 
waith angenrheidiol i Eiddo Arbed? 
 

12 Derbyn y Cwestiynau canlynol gan: 
 

Y Cynghorydd Ross Penhale-Thomas at yr Aelod Cabinet – Adfywio, Datblygu 
Economaidd a Thai 
 
Beth mae'r awdurdod lleol yn ei wneud, ochr yn ochr â phartneriaid strategol, i gefnogi creu 
cyfleoedd cyflogaeth hirdymor yn ardaloedd ein cymoedd? 
 

13 Hysbysiad o Gynnig a gynigiwyd gan y Cynghorydd Jane Gebbie 
 

Teitl y Cynnig: Sicrhau Buddsoddiad Moesegol Cronfeydd Pensiwn Llywodraeth Leol 

Mae’r Cyngor hwn yn nodi’r canlynol: 

 

• Mae gweithwyr Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Rhondda Cynon Taf yn gallu ymuno â 
Chronfa Bensiwn Rhondda Cynon Taf, sydd, fel rhan o Bartneriaeth Pensiwn 
Cymru (PBCC), yn rheoli dros £3 biliwn ar ran gweithwyr llywodraeth leol a phobl 
sydd wedi ymddeol.  

• Mae buddsoddiadau presennol yn cynnwys daliadau mewn cwmnïau tanwydd 
ffosil, gweithgynhyrchwyr arfau, a chorfforaethau rhyngwladol sydd wedi eu 
cyhuddo o gyfrannu at dorri hawliau dynol neu ddirywiad amgylcheddol.  



• Mae gan gronfeydd Cynllun Pensiwn Llywodraeth Leol (CPLlL) ddyletswydd 
ffyddlon i weithredu er budd hirdymor gorau yr aelodau, sy'n cynnwys rheoli 
risgiau amgylcheddol, cymdeithasol a llywodraethu (ESG).  

• Mae nifer o gyrff cyhoeddus eraill, gan gynnwys cynghorau dinesig a sirol ledled y 
DU, wedi mabwysiadu polisïau Buddsoddi Cyfrifol gydag ymrwymiadau cryfach i 
dynnu allan o sectorau niweidiol a chyd-fynd â nodau hawliau dynol a hinsawdd 
rhyngwladol.  

• Mae Partneriaeth Pensiwn Cymru wedi mabwysiadu polisi Buddsoddi Cyfrifol 
ond ar hyn o bryd yn caniatáu disgresiwn sylweddol i reolwyr cronfeydd dros feini 
prawf moesegol ac eithriadau sector. 

Mae’r Cyngor hwn wedi penderfynu: 

1. Ysgrifennu at Gronfa Bensiwn RhCT a Phartneriaeth Pensiwn Cymru yn gofyn 
am: 

o Fwy o dryloywder ar y buddsoddiadau cyfredol, gan gynnwys amlygiad i 
sectorau (e.e., tanwyddau ffosil, arfau, technoleg gwyliadwriaeth). 

o Polisi Buddsoddi Cyfrifol cryfach a chanddo feini prawf gwrthod clir ar 
gyfer cwmnïau sy’n ymwneud ag: 

▪ Echdynnu tanwydd ffosil; 

▪ Gweithgynhyrchu neu werthu arfau i gyfundrefnau sy’n torri cyfraith 
ryngwladol; 

▪ Camdriniaethau hawliau dynol (e.e., torri egwyddorion Cytundeb 
Byd-eang y Cenhedloedd Unedig); 

▪ Dinistrio amgylcheddol neu ddatgoedwigo systemig. 

2. Galw ar y Pwyllgor Pensiynau a’r Bwrdd Pensiynau Lleol i: 

o Archwilio opsiynau i gyflymu datgarboneiddio portffolio’r gronfa yn unol 
â tharged hinsawdd o 1.5°C; 

o Ymgysylltu â rheolwyr asedau i ddatblygu cynllun ar gyfer tynnu 
buddsoddiadau fesul cam o’r sectorau mwyaf niweidiol, lle bo’n gyson â 
dyletswydd ymddiriedol; 

o Sicrhau cynrychiolaeth weithredol gan aelodau mewn adolygiadau polisi 
yn y dyfodol sy’n ymwneud â buddsoddi moesegol neu gyfrifol. 

3. Cefnogi datblygiad Siarter Buddsoddi Moesegol tryloyw ar gyfer y gronfa, a 
gyhoeddir yn flynyddol, gan adrodd ar gynnydd tuag at fuddsoddiadau sy’n 
gymdeithasol gyfrifol ac sy’n cyd-fynd â’r hinsawdd. 



4. Anfon y cynnig hwn at Gymdeithas Llywodraeth Leol (CLL) a Chymdeithas 
Llywodraeth Leol Cymru (CLlLC), gan annog dull cydlynol ar draws Llywodraeth 
Leol a Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus o fuddsoddi moesegol. 

5. Mae’r Cyngor hwn yn mynegi pryder ynghylch buddsoddiadau mewn cwmnïau 
sy’n rhan o drais neu feddiannaeth ym Mhalesteina, Myanmar, neu diriogaethau 
eraill sy’n destun sancsiynau rhyngwladol, ac yn annog rheolwyr cronfeydd i 
sicrhau bod daliadau’n cyd-fynd â chyfraith ddyngarol a hawliau dynol 
rhyngwladol. 

 
14 Hysbysiad o Gynnig a gynigiwyd gan y Cynghorydd Rhys Goode 

 
Mae'r Cyngor hwn yn cydnabod y pwysau cynyddol a osodir ar Heddlu De Cymru o 
ganlyniad i gynnal digwyddiadau cenedlaethol a rhyngwladol mawr yng Nghaerdydd ac yn y 
rhanbarth ehangach. 
  
Yn aml, mae digwyddiadau fel gemau chwaraeon mawr, cyngherddau, uwchgynadleddau 
gwleidyddol a chynulliadau diwylliannol yn gofyn am bresenoldeb heddlu ychwanegol 
sylweddol, cynllunio ac adnoddau, gyda chostau a phwysau gweithredu yn cael eu dwyn yn 
lleol. 
  
Nodwn ymhellach fod dinas-ranbarthau eraill y DU, yn enwedig Belfast a Chaeredin, yn cael 
eu cydnabod gan y Swyddfa Gartref fel rhanbarthau Prifddinas ac yn derbyn cyllid a 
chefnogaeth ychwanegol gan y Swyddfa Gartref i adlewyrchu'r gofynion plismona unigryw 
sy'n gysylltiedig â chynnal digwyddiadau proffil uchel. 
  
Ar hyn o bryd, nid yw Heddlu De Cymru yn derbyn lefelau cyfatebol o gefnogaeth, er 
gwaethaf wynebu heriau a gofynion adnoddau cymharol, megis bod yr ail ardal uchaf ar 
gyfer ymweliadau Brenhinol, rhaglenni Rygbi a Chriced Rhyngwladol a lleoliadau 
cyngherddau mawr. (i'w gadarnhau) 
 
Felly, mae’r Cyngor hwn yn penderfynu: 
·       Galw’n ffurfiol ar Swyddfa Gartref Llywodraeth y DU i gydnabod Caerdydd fel Dinas-
ranbarth yn yr un modd â Belfast a Chaeredin ar gyfer cyllid yn y dyfodol. 
·       Ysgrifennu at yr Ysgrifennydd Cartref ac at Aelodau Seneddol perthnasol o Gymru ac 
Aelodau Senedd Cymru, yn eu hannog i gefnogi’r achos dros gydnabod Caerdydd fel dinas-
ranbarth a galw am gyllid teg a chynaliadwy i Heddlu De Cymru. 
·       Gofyn am adolygiad o fformwlâu cyllido presennol y Swyddfa Gartref, er mwyn sicrhau 
cefnogaeth deg a chyson i holl heddluoedd Cymru, yn seiliedig ar lwyth digwyddiadau, 
statws dinas- ranbarth, a phwysau plismona. 
·       Gwahodd Prif Gwnstabl Heddlu De Cymru a'r Comisiynydd Heddlu a Throseddu i roi 
cyflwyniad i'r Cyngor ar effeithiau gweithredu ac ariannu plismona digwyddiadau mawr ac i 
drafod ymdrechion eiriolaeth ar y cyd posibl. 
  
Credwn fod dull teg a chyfartal o ddyrannu adnoddau plismona yn hanfodol i gynnal 
diogelwch cymunedol, lles swyddogion, a hyder y cyhoedd, ac i sicrhau nad yw De Cymru 
dan anfantais o'i gymharu â dinas-ranbarthau eraill y DU. 
  
 
 
 
 



15 Materion Brys 
 

I ystyried unrhyw eitemau o fusnes y, oherwydd amgylchiadau arbennig y cadeirydd o'r farn y 
dylid eu hystyried yn y cyfarfod fel mater o frys yn unol â Rhan 4 (pharagraff 4) o'r Rheolau 
Trefn y Cyngor yn y Cyfansoddiad. 
 

16 Gwahardd y Cyhoedd 
 

Nid yw’r adroddiad sy’n ymwneud â’r eitem ganlynol i’w gyhoeddi gan ei fod yn cynnwys 
gwybodaeth eithriedig fel y’i diffinnir ym Mharagraffau 12 o Ran 4 o Atodlen 12A i Ddeddf 
Llywodraeth Leol 1972 fel y’i diwygiwyd gan Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at 
Wybodaeth) (Amrywio) (Cymru) 2007.  
 
Os bydd y Panel, yn dilyn cymhwyso prawf budd y cyhoedd, yn penderfynu yn unol â’r 
Ddeddf i ystyried yr eitem hon yn breifat, bydd y cyhoedd yn cael eu gwahardd o’r cyfarfod 
yn ystod ystyriaeth o’r fath. 
 

17 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion wedi’u Eithrio 
97 - 100 

Derbyn i'w cymeradwyo cofnodion eithriedig 22/10/2025. 
 

Nodyn:  Bydd hwn yn gyfarfod Hybrid a bydd Aelodau a Swyddogion mynychu trwy Siambr y 
Cyngor, Swyddfeydd Dinesig, Stryd yr Angel, Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr / o bell Trwy Timau Microsoft. 
Bydd y cyfarfod cael ei recordio i’w drosglwyddo drwy wefan y Cyngor.  Os oes gennych unrhyw 
gwestiwn am hyn, cysylltwch â cabinet_committee@bridgend.gov.uk neu ffoniwch 01656 643148 / 
643694 / 643513 / 643159 
 
Yn ddiffuant 
K Watson 
Prif Swyddog, Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a Rheoleiddio, AD a Pholisi Corfforaethol 
 
Dosbarthiad: 
 
Cynghorwr: 
Pob Aelod 



This page is intentionally left blank



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

COFNOD O BENDERFYNIAD CYFARFOD O’R CYNGOR A GYNHALIWYD HYBRID YN SIAMBR Y CYNGOR SWYDDFEYDD DINESIG 
STRYD YR ANGEL PEN-Y-BONT AR OGWR, CF31 4BW / O BELL TRWY MICROSOFT TEAMS AR DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 
16:00 
 

Presennol 
 

Y Cynghorydd HJ David  – Cadeirydd a Maer 
 
A R Berrow JPD Blundell E L P Caparros O Clatworthy 
RJ Collins E D Winstanley P Davies S Easterbrook 
M J Evans N Farr J Gebbie RM Granville 
H Griffiths GC Haines D T Harrison M L Hughes 
D M Hughes M R John M Jones W J Kendall 
M Lewis JC Spanswick I M Spiller JH Tildesley MBE 
G Walter AJ Williams HM Williams I Williams 
    
 
 

Presennol – O Bell  
 
S Aspey H T Bennett F D Bletsoe S J Bletsoe 
N Clarke C Davies C L C Davies P Ford 
W R Goode RM James P W Jenkins J Llewellyn-Hopkins 
J E Pratt R J Smith T Thomas A Ulberini-Williams 
A Wathan MJ Williams R Williams T Wood 
 
 
Swyddogion: 
 
Mark Galvin Uwch Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd - Pwyllgorau 
Lindsay Harvey Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol – Addysg a Chymorth i Deuluoedd 
Rachel Keepins Rheolwr Gwasanaethau Democrataidd 
Carys Lord Prif Swyddog - Cyllid, Perfformiad a Newid 
Jake Morgan Prif Weithredwr 
Janine Nightingale Cyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol - Cymunedau 

P
age 7

A
genda Item

 3



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

Michael Pitman Swyddog Gwasanaethau Democrataidd – Pwyllgorau 
Alex Rawlin Rheolwr Polisi Corfforaethol a Materion Cyhoeddus 
Oscar Roberts Business Administrative Apprentice - Democratic Services 
Kelly Watson Prif Swyddog – Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol, Adnoddau Dynol a Rheoleiddio 
 
 
 
 

196. Ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb 
 

 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Derbyniwyd ymddiheuriadau am absenoldeb gan y Cynghorydd R Penhale-Thomas, y Cynghorydd H 
Bennett a y Cynghorydd S Griffiths 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
197. Datganiadau o fuddiant 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Derbyniwyd y datganiadau buddiant canlynol: 
 
Y Cynghorydd E Winstanley - Eitem 7 ar yr Agenda gan fod ei chyflogwr yn bartner i CBSP 
 
Y Cynghorydd J Pratt – Eitem 6 ar yr agenda fel aelod o Wylwyr y Glannau Ei Fawrhydi   
 
Y Cynghorydd R Williams – Eitem 9 ar yr agenda fel preswylydd ym Mhencoed 
 
Fe wnaeth yr aelodau canlynol ddatgan buddiant personol yn eitem 9 ar yr Agenda fel aelodau o 
Gynghorau Tref a/neu Gymuned Lleol:- 
 
Y Cynghorwyr E Caparros, J Llewellyn-Hopkins, JC Spanswick, W Kendall, Amanda Williams, M Williams, 
S Bletsoe, A Wathan, I Spiller, I Williams, S Easterbrook, T Wood, D Harrison, JP Blundell, M Evans, R 
Williams, T Thomas, M John, G Haines, J Gebbie, M Jones, P Jenkins, R Collins, Chris Davies, P Davies, 
M Lewis, H Griffiths, H Williams, H David, R Granville, E Winstanley, N Farr a J Pratt. 
 
 
Fe wnaeth yr aelodau canlynol ddatgan buddiant personol pellach yn eitem 9 ar yr Agenda, gan eu bod 

P
age 8



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

wedi cymryd rhan yn yr ymgynghoriad a gynhaliwyd ynghylch yr eitem hon a’u bod hefyd wedi cael eu 
crybwyll yn yr adroddiad:- 
 
Y Cynghorwyr JP Blundell, JC Spanswick, M Evans, E Winstanley ac M Hughes.  
 
Fe wnaeth yr aelodau canlynol ddatgan buddiant personol yn eitem 14 ar yr Agenda:- 
 
Y Cynghorydd T Thomas fel llywodraethwr ysgol yn  Ysgol Llangynwyd 
Y Cynghorydd RM James fel llywodraethwr ysgol yn Ysgol Gymraeg 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
198. Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

PENDERFYNWYD: Cymeradwyo cofnodion cyfarfod y Cyngor dyddiedig 24 Medi 2025 fel cofnod gwir a 
chywir. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
199. I dderbyn cyhoeddiadau oddi wrth: 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Derbyniwyd cyhoeddiadau gan y bobl bwysig ganlynol (nid oedd angen gwneud unrhyw benderfyniadau 
nac ni wnaed unrhyw benderfyniadau):-  
• Y Maer;  
• Prif Weithredw 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
200. Derbyn cyhoeddiadau gan yr Arweinydd 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Derbyniwyd cyhoeddiadau gan yr Arweinydd (nid oedd angen gwneud unrhyw benderfyniadau nac unrhyw 
benderfyniadau). 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 

P
age 9



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

201. Dadl Aelodau 
 

 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Cyfarfu’r Cyngor i drafod y pwnc canlynol: 
 
‘‘Mae achosion o dywydd eithafol yn effeithio ar y Fwrdeistref yn amlach. Gall hyn arwain at lifogydd, 
problemau gyda seilwaith priffyrdd a thoriadau i wasanaethau hanfodol, h.y. trydan/dŵr. 
 
Pa mor wydn yw'r Fwrdeistref Sirol wrth addasu i'r digwyddiadau hyn, y gellid eu priodoli o bosibl i’r Newid 
yn yr Hinsawdd, a phan fyddant yn digwydd, pa mor effeithiol ydym ni wrth gefnogi ein cymunedau.’ 
 
Cyflwynwyd y Ddadl gan y Maer, a fynegodd siom nad oedd partneriaid statudol y Cyngor wedi dewis dod 
i’r cyfarfod er gwaethaf cael eu gwahodd i gymryd rhan yn y ddadl. 
 
Fe wnaeth cynigydd y drafodaeth agor drwy gyflwyno'r ddadl fod strategaethau atal hirdymor yn hanfodol 
er mwyn sicrhau bod costau ac effeithiau llifogydd yn cael eu cyfyngu, yn enwedig mewn ardaloedd o 
ddatblygiad newydd a bod angen gweithio gyda rhanddeiliaid lleol gan ymgorffori mesurau sy'n seiliedig ar 
natur a’r mapio a’r dechnoleg sydd ar gael. Ychwanegodd yr Arweinydd fod nifer o is-grwpiau wedi cael eu 
ffurfio o fewn o fewn y Bwrdd Gwasanaethau Cyhoeddus er mwyn ceisio mynd i'r afael â phroblemau 
llifogydd gan roi pwys ar y gallu i addasu a gwytnwch, wrth ystyried y newidiadau yn y tywydd yn ystod y 
blynyddoedd diwethaf sydd wedi creu mwy o fygythiad i gartrefi a seilwaith y fwrdeistref. 
 
Cyflwynodd Arweinydd Grŵp Annibynnol Sir Pen-y-bont ar Ogwr nifer o enghreifftiau o amgylchiadau 
dychrynllyd a brofwyd gan drigolion yn ystod y gaeaf diwethaf, gan ofyn pa mor wydn y gall yr awdurdod 
fod yng ngoleuni'r digwyddiadau hyn a chyflwyno nifer o gwestiynau i'r Weithrediaeth ynghylch y  systemau 
sydd yn eu lle ar hyn o bryd i roi blaenoriaeth i'r rhai sydd yn y perygl mwyaf oddi wrth effeithiau llifogydd a 
pha mor effeithiol yw’r cyfathrebu rhwng y Cyngor a’r trigolion. Atebodd yr Arweinydd gan sicrhau pawb a 
oedd yn bresennol y câi'r cwestiynau a godwyd eu hateb gan Aelod y Cabinet dros y Newid yn yr 
Hinsawdd a'r Amgylchedd a Chyfarwyddwr Corfforaethol y Cymunedau, naill ai yn y cyfarfod hwn neu y tu 
allan iddo. 
 
Yn ei gyfraniad ef, fe wnaeth Dirprwy Arweinydd grŵp y Gynghrair Ddemocrataidd ganolbwyntio ar 
ganfyddiadau'r Pwyllgor Trosolwg a Chraffu Corfforaethol ynghylch parodrwydd a gwytnwch presennol y 
Fwrdeistref yn wyneb y digwyddiadau tywydd eithafol hyn, gan annog dull rhagweithiol oedd yn 
canolbwyntio ar fuddsoddi mewn atal trychinebau ac integreiddio ystyriaethau hinsawdd i mewn i faterion 
cynllunio a chyllido. Ychwanegodd aelod y gallai system oedd yn rhybuddio’n gynnar pan fyddai larymau 

P
age 10



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

ffos yn cael eu hactifadu arwain at leihau effeithiau llifogydd cyn y gallai swyddogion y Cyngor ymateb i'r 
rhain, a galw ar Gyfoeth Naturiol Cymru i estyn allan at drigolion i gynnig cymorth lle bynnag yr oedd 
modd. 
 
Awgrymodd aelod y dylid rhoi blaenoriaeth i gamau gweithredu mewn meysydd fel y Dreth Gyngor, 
ymddygiad gwrthgymdeithasol a chyflwr ffyrdd tra’n canolbwyntio ar atebion ffisegol fel clirio draeniau. 
Gofynnwyd cwestiwn i'r Arweinydd a'r Prif Weithredwr gan aelod ynghylch sut y gellid annog sefydliadau 
partner y Cyngor, a’u gorfodi os oedd angen, i ddod ymlaen i ddelio â'r risgiau a'r gwaith sydd angen ei 
wneud i helpu i atal llifogydd. 
 
Cododd aelod y posibilrwydd, oherwydd y newidiadau yn y tywydd ac erydiad, y gallai fod angen gwneud 
penderfyniadau ynghylch y graddau y gellid byw mewn rhai ardaloedd yn y tymor hir yn unol â 
phenderfyniadau Cynghorau eraill yng Nghymru. Ymatebodd aelod arall i sylwadau cynharach bod eiddo o 
fewn y Fwrdeistref yn parhau i fod mewn perygl neu wedi cael eu difrodi gan lifogydd ar hyn o bryd, ac felly 
ei fod yn parhau i fod yn destun pryder presennol i drigolion, gan ychwanegu y dylai Dŵr Cymru a 
sefydliadau eraill fod yn barod i weithio gyda'r Cyngor ar y materion hyn ac y gallai cyllid fod ar gael gan y 
cyrff hyn er mwyn lleddfu risgiau llifogydd. 
 
Awgrymodd aelod y dylai cynlluniau'r Cyngor ar gyfer y digwyddiadau hyn ganolbwyntio ar gymryd unrhyw 
gamau gweithredu cyn gynted â phosibl, o ystyried nad yw cynlluniau gweithredu bob amser yn cael eu 
cwblhau yn llawn gan awdurdodau, yn ogystal â galw ar y Cyngor i gysylltu â sefydliadau eraill fel y Groes 
Goch Brydeinig i gael cymorth gydag unrhyw sefyllfaoedd sy'n datblygu yn ôl yr angen. Awgrymodd aelod 
y dylai'r Cyngor roi mwy o sylw i roi cymorth ariannol grant i'n peirianwyr llifogydd a'n timau draenio i’w 
galluogi i gyflawni eu dyletswyddau mor effeithlon â phosibl. 
 
Gofynnodd aelod pa drefniadau oedd gan y Cyngor yn eu lle ar gyfer clirio draeniau a rhigolau yn rheolaidd 
yn ogystal â rhannu pryderon ynghylch capasiti cyfleusterau trin dŵr yn y fwrdeistref, a'r effaith y gallai 
hynny ei chael ar lygredd lleol. Awgrymodd aelod hefyd y gellid cynnal dadl Cyngor yn y dyfodol ar 
Gynhesu Byd-eang, a gofynnodd a allai'r Awdurdod fuddsoddi mewn cerbydau newydd i gynorthwyo i glirio 
draeniau dŵr wyneb. 
 
Tynnodd aelod o'r Cabinet sylw at Strategaeth Rheoli Risg Llifogydd Lleol y Cyngor sy'n cael ei dilyn gan 
waith ledled y Fwrdeistref i gynyddu gwytnwch yn wyneb y digwyddiadau tywydd eithafol hyn. Dywedodd 
hefyd fod cynnydd yn parhau i gael ei wneud ar weithredu agweddau eraill ar argymhellion ymchwiliad 
llifogydd Adran 19 a gynhaliwyd yn dilyn llifogydd ym mis Medi 2024. Anogodd hefyd gyhoeddi amserlen 

P
age 11



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

waith, fyddai ar gael i drigolion fedru gwirio cynnydd a sicrhau cynnydd ym mharodrwydd cymunedau. 
 
Awgrymodd aelod y dylai'r Cyngor gynnull cyfarfod Eithriadol ym mis Rhagfyr lle gellid gwneud ymgais 
bellach i gael Cyfoeth Naturiol Cymru a Dŵr Cymru i fod yn bresennol, a chytunodd y Maer i gyfleu hyn i 
swyddogion i'w ystyried, gan addo o leiaf y byddai'r sefydliadau hyn yn cyfarfod ag aelodau perthnasol o’r 
Weithrediaeth, er mwyn trafod y pwnc cynyddol bwysig hwn ymhellach. 
 
Nodwyd absenoldeb y cyrff hyn heddiw gydag anfodlonrwydd, o ystyried y canlyniadau difrifol y mae'r 
fwrdeistref yn eu hwynebu yn y dyfodol yn ogystal â phryderon trigolion ynghylch llifogydd. 
 
Ymatebodd Aelod y Cabinet dros y Newid yn yr Hinsawdd a'r Amgylchedd i'r pryderon a godwyd ynghylch 
materion wardiau nifer o Gynghorwyr yn ymwneud â llifogydd, yn ogystal ag egluro ei faes cyfrifoldeb ef a'r 
camau sy’n cael eu cymryd i fynd i'r afael â’r bygythiad o lifogydd yn y dyfodol. Rhannodd rywfaint o 
wybodaeth ystadegol gyda'r Cyngor i'r perwyl hwn, gan ychwanegu bod 26,000 o rigolau/ffosydd yn y 
Fwrdeistref Sirol oedd angen cael eu clirio i gyd yn rheolaidd. Roedd angen mwy o offer er mwyn rheoli 
clirio'r ardaloedd hyn yn effeithiol, gan fod 115 ohonynt wedi eu dosbarthu fel ardaloedd 'critigol' oedd yn 
dueddol o gael llifogydd. Roedd staff y Cyngor wedi ymweld â'r rhigolau/ffosydd hyn 5,800 o weithiau yn 
2024/25 er mwyn eu glanhau ond, yn anffodus, mewn tywydd garw roeddent yn aml yn cau i fyny’n gyflym 
eto. Roedd larymau yn rhai o'r rhigolau/ffosydd hyn. Gorffennodd drwy ychwanegu y byddai'r Cyngor yn 
gweithio'n agos gyda chyrff fel Llywodraeth Cymru mewn ymgais i sicrhau mwy o gyllid i’r diben hwn yn y 
dyfodol.  
 
I gloi, fe wnaeth yr aelod a gychwynnodd y ddadl ymateb i’r amrywiol gyfraniadau a wnaed yn ystod y 
cyfarfod ac anogodd gynnal ymchwil fanwl i’r pwnc hwn yn y dyfodol drwy broses Trosolwg a Chraffu’r 
Cyngor, er mwyn sicrhau bod y Fwrdeistref mor barod ag yr oedd dichon bod ar gyfer unrhyw 
ddigwyddiadau tywydd eithafol yn y dyfodol. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD:                                            Nodi sefyllfa Dadl y Fwrdeistref Sirol. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
202. Hunanasesiad 2024/25 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Diben yr adroddiad hwn, a gyflwynwyd gan Aelod y Cabinet dros Gyllid a Pherfformiad, oedd gofyn i’r 
Cyngor gymeradwyo’r hunanasesiad ar gyfer 2024/25, oedd wedi ei gynnwys yn Atodiad 1 a'r wybodaeth 

P
age 12



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

am berfformiad gysylltiedig yn Atodiad 2. Roedd yr hunanasesiad hwn yn ymwneud â gofynion darparu 
gwasanaethau, defnydd o adnoddau a llywodraethu. 
 
Tynnodd yr aelodau sylw at wahanol adrannau o'r adroddiad, gan gynnwys newidiadau i Bwyllgorau Craffu 
a phrosesau adrodd yn ogystal â'r cynnydd a wnaed ar y Llwybr Gofal Cenedlaethol ar gyfer trigolion 
agored i niwed yn y fwrdeistref. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD:                                             Bod y Cyngor wedi ystyried ac yn cymeradwyo adroddiad 
hunanasesu drafft 2024/25 yn Atodiad 1, oedd yn cael ei ategu gan wybodaeth perfformiad yn Atodiad 2.    
 
Diolchodd y Cyngor ymhellach am gyfraniad pob tîm ar draws y Cyngor a gyfrannodd at y cynnydd a'r 
cyflawniad a ddangoswyd yn yr adroddiad hwn. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
203. Asesiad Perfformiad Panel (PPA) 2024-25 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Diben yr adroddiad hwn, a gyflwynwyd gan Arweinydd y Cyngor, oedd hysbysu'r Cyngor am ganfyddiadau 
Asesiad Perfformiad y Panel a gynhaliwyd rhwng 16 a 19 Medi 2025. Roedd hefyd yn gofyn i’r Cyngor 
gymeradwyo’r camau nesaf ar gyfer symud ymlaen. 
 
PENDERFYNWYD:  Bod y Cyngor:-  

• Wedi ystyried canfyddiadau’r  PPA yn Atodiad 1 ac Atodiad 2 yr adroddiad. 
• yn cefnogi’r camau nesaf wrth ymateb i’r PPA ym mharagraffau  3.6, 3.7 a 3.8 (yr adroddiad). 

 
Diolchodd y Cyngor i aelodau'r holl dimau a gynorthwyodd i gyfrannu at yr asesiad yn ogystal â 
phartneriaid CBSP drwy gydol proses cynnal yr asesiad. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
204. Adolygiad o Drefniadau Cymunedol Adroddiad Terfynol 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Diben yr adroddiad hwn, a gyflwynwyd gan y Prif Weithredwr, oedd cyflwyno cynigion terfynol i'r Cyngor eu 
hystyried, a phe cytunid arnynt, gofyn am awdurdod i gyflwyno cynigion o'r fath i Gomisiwn Lleol, 
Democratiaeth a Ffiniau Cymru (‘LDBCW’) sef y corff gweithredu ar gyfer yr adolygiad. 

P
age 13



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

 
Trafodwyd adborth negyddol a dderbyniwyd gan y gymuned ac aelodau ynghylch canfyddiadau'r 
adroddiad, yn ogystal â rhinweddau uno Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned yng nghyd-destun swyddi gwag 
Cynghorwyr ar y cyrff hyn. Trafodwyd hefyd y canlyniadau a'r effeithiau ar ddemocratiaeth leol o dderbyn 
neu wrthod y newidiadau hyn. 
 
Gofynnodd yr aelodau gwestiynau ynghylch:- 
 
• Y canlyniadau posibl a'r gost o beidio â chymeradwyo'r cynigion a amlinellwyd yn yr adroddiad. 
• Perchnogaeth asedau a gedwir gan Gynghorau Tref a Chymuned sydd i gael eu huno. 
• Y gwahaniaethau rhwng yr adroddiad hwn a'r Adolygiad Ffiniau blaenorol a gynhaliwyd ar gyfer 
Cynghorwyr Bwrdeistref. 
• A oedd modd ailystyried yr adroddiad o fewn amserlen y ddeddfwriaeth. 
• A allai adolygiadau unigol ac uno Cynghorau Tref a Chymuned ddigwydd ar wahân i'r adolygiad 
hwn, fel rhan o adolygiad diwygiedig pellach. 
 
Aeth Uwch Swyddog y Gwasanaethau Etholiadol, y Prif Swyddog - Gwasanaethau Cyfreithiol a 
Rheoleiddio, Adnoddau Dynol a Pholisi Corfforaethol a'r Prif Weithredwr i'r afael â'r cwestiynau hyn. 
 
Yn dilyn cryn ddadl gan aelodau ar yr adroddiad, 
 
PENDERFYNWYD:   
(1)    Nodi’r Adroddiad Terfynol ar yr Adolygiad o Drefniadau Cymunedol Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-y-
bont ar Ogwr.  
 
(2)    Bod y Cyngor wedi penderfynu peidio â chymeradwyo’r argymhellion fel y cawsant eu nodi yn yr 
adroddiad ac wedi penderfynu yn hytrach cyfeirio’r adolygiad i sylw Comisiwn Lleol Democratiaeth a 
Ffiniau Cymru 
         (‘CLlDFfC’) i’w ystyried ymhellach a’i benderfynu. 
 
Diolchodd y Cyngor hefyd i'r swyddogion a'r aelodau, oedd yn rhan o'r panel ymgynghori, a gyfrannodd at 
yr adolygiad a'r adroddiad dilynol. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 

P
age 14



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

205. Hysbysiad o Gynnig a gynigiwyd gan y Cynghorydd 
 

 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

PENDERFYNWYD: Cytunodd yr aelodau i ohirio'r Hysbysiad o Gynnig hwn tan gyfarfod nesaf y Cyngor 
dyddiedig 19 Tachwedd 2025. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
206. Rhybudd o Gynnig a gynigiwyd gan y Cynghorydd R Goode 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

PENDERFYNWYD: Cytunodd yr aelodau i ohirio'r Hysbysiad o Gynnig hwn tan gyfarfod nesaf y Cyngor 
dyddiedig 19 Tachwedd 2025. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
207. Materion Brys 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Dim. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
208. Gwahardd y Cyhoedd 

 
 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

PENDERFYNWYD: Na ddylid cyhoeddi'r eitemau canlynol am eu bod yn cynnwys gwybodaeth esempt fel 
y'i diffinnir ym Mharagraff 12 o Ran 4 ac/neu Baragraff 21 o Ran 5 o Atodlen 12A o Ddeddf Llywodraeth 
Leol 1972 fel y cafodd ei diwygio gan Orchymyn Llywodraeth Leol (Mynediad at 
Wybodaeth)(Amrywio)(Cymru) 2007.  
 
Ar ôl cymhwyso prawf lles y cyhoedd, penderfynodd yr Is-bwyllgor, yn unol â'r Ddeddf, y dylid ystyried yr 
eitemau hyn yn breifat, gan wahardd y cyhoedd o'r cyfarfod yn ystod y drafodaeth. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
209. Rhaglen Moderneiddio Ysgolion - Darpariaeth Uwchradd Cyfrwng 

Cymraeg 
 

P
age 15



CYNGOR - DYDD MERCHER, 22 HYDREF 2025 

 

 

Y penderfyniad a wnaed 
 

Roedd y penderfyniad canlynol wedi'i eithrio. 

Dyddiad gwneud y penderfyniad 
 

22 Hydref 2025 

 
 
I arsylwi dadl bellach a gynhaliwyd ar yr eitemau uchod, cliciwch ar y ddolen hon 
 
Terfynwyd y cyfarfod yn 19:46

P
age 16

https://youtu.be/NdcRqsiEUHM


 

Meeting of: 
 

COUNCIL 

 

Date of Meeting: 
 

19 NOVEMBER 2025 

 

Report Title: 
 

PRESENTATION TO COUNCIL BY REPRESENTATIVES 
FROM MENTAL HEALTH MATTERS 

 

 

Report Chief 
Officer / Cabinet 
Member: 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
& 

LEADER OF THE COUNCIL 
 

 
Responsible 
Officer: 
 

 
MARK GALVIN 

SENIOR DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER - COMMITTEES 
 

 
Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules: 
 

   
There is no effect upon the Policy Framework and 

Procedure Rules. 

 
Executive 
Summary: 

   
  The report will invite a presentation from the 

organisation, Mental Health Matters (MHM)   

 

1. Purpose of Report 
 

  1.1      The purpose of this report is to advise Council of a presentation proposed to be 
delivered to Council by representatives of Mental Health Matters (MHM). 

 
2. Background 
 
2.1      Council will be accustomed to receiving presentations from its key partners, 

stakeholders and other organisations periodically in the past.  
 
3. Current situation / proposal 

 

3.1 The presentation will be led at its November meeting by Michaela Moore, Strategic 
Development Manager and Mark Williams, Information Officer. The presentation will 
cover Mental Health Matters (Wales) and the Grapevine Project.  
 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh 
Language) 

 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered 
in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must 
consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the Page 17

Agenda Item 4



review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there 
will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report. 

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to 
Corporate Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of 

this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable 
impacts upon the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this 
report. 

 

6. Climate Change and Nature Implications 
 

6.1 There are no climate change or nature implications arising from this report. 
 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 

7.1 There are no safeguarding or corporate parent implications arising from this 
report. 

 

8. Financial Implications 
 
8.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

9. Recommendation 

 
9.1 Council is recommended to note the presentation as referred to at paragraph 3.1 of 

the report. 
  

Background documents 
 
None. 

Page 18



 

 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL  

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
19 NOVEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
INITIAL RESPONSE TO THE PANEL PERFORMANCE 

ASSESSMENT AND PROPOSED CHANGES TO THE JNC 
SENIOR MANAGEMENT STRUCTURE 

 
 

 
Report Owner: 
Responsible Chief 
Officer / Cabinet 
Member 
 

 
LEADER OF THE COUNCIL  

 
CHIEF EXECUTIVE  

Responsible 
Officer:  

 
JAKE MORGAN  

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

There is no effect upon the policy framework and procedure 
rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

The purpose of this report is to advise Council of the initial 
response to the Panel Performance Assessment and 

proposes amendments to the JNC senior management 
structure.    

 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to set out the initial response to the Panel Performance 

assessment (PPA) including the recommendation regarding the need for the 
development of a transformation strategy. It also proposes amendments to the JNC 
senior management structure to support change, ensure risk is managed effectively 
to enable change.  

 

2. Background  
 
2.1 Bridgend County Borough is widely considered to be at a crossroads in its 

development with a need to modernise and undertake significant change if it is to be 
to meet future demand and be sustainable in the future. There is a broad consensus 
that continuing to do things in the same way will lead to managed decline across all 
services. This paper sets out the recommended direction of travel and seeks to put in 
the building blocks of capacity to manage risk and realise these ambitions for change 
recommended in our external evaluation reported to council on 22nd October 2005. 
(Appendix A) Work is underway to respond in detail to each of the 8 
recommendations. This report will set out the intended direction of travel on how to 
take this forward including some essential amendments to the JNC senior 
management structure to enable parallel risk management of the council’s core 

Page 19

Agenda Item 7



 

business whilst also ensuring there is capacity to drive change. The Peer review gave 
8 recommendations:  

 
2.2 Recommendation 1:  

The Council has appointed a Chief Executive to lead and deliver change. The 
Council should now support him to develop an inspiring vision, a 
Transformation Strategy, underpinning corporate strategies and the cultural 
shift required to produce both sustainability of services, greater cross-
Council working and innovation – which involves staff, communities and 
partners. 
 

2.3 It has been identified by the Peer Review that there is an appetite for change across 
both Council staff and Elected Members. It has been widely accepted that there is a 
long term ‘vision gap’ and need for a transformation plan that sets out a vision for 
the people of Bridgend and the place they live. This plan should set out the 
aspiration for the council that will guide strategic decision making and change at 
least until 2040. 

 
2.4 To do this, the Council needs to develop an approach and timetable for the 

development of a suite of related documents that will be informed by the long-term 
transformation plan including: 

 

• An updated Corporate Plan Delivery Plan (CPDP) for 2026/27 that sets out the 

measures of success for the year ahead – reflecting the new vision.  

• More robust Service self-evaluations feeding Directorate Business Plans that 

outline how each Directorate will contribute to the CPDP and transformation 

plan.  

• A more robust system of self-evaluation of every key service area. 

• Appraisals that set out how individual employees will contribute to the plans set 

out above.  

3. Current situation/proposal: 
 
3.1 It is recommended to create structure and pace to the change that the Council aims 

for each element of the performance framework and for this to be in place by 
Summer 2026. This is an ambitious timescale. As concluded in the PPA report, this 
will require work at pace.  

 
3.2 The proposed timeline is set out as a cascade from broadest to more specific levels 

in the table below:  
 
 

What Who When 

Budget Development    CMB / Cabinet / 
budget working 

group / Corporate 
Overview and 

Scrutiny 
Committee 

(COSC) / Council  

January-February 
2026 

Page 20



 

Transformation Plan Development   Cabinet / All 
Members / 
Corporate 

Management 
Board (CMB) / 

Heads of Service / 
Staff and Trade 

Unions / 
Stakeholders / 

Public  
 

November 2025-
March 2026 

Service Self Evaluation Heads of Service  February- April     
 

CPDP development   CMB / Heads of 
Service / COSC / 

Cabinet and 
Council 

April / May 2026 

Directorate Business Plan Development   CMB / Heads of 
Service / Group 

Managers/ 
Scrutiny 

June 2026 

 
Key development of enabling strategies 
EG workforce and Technology, 
 

CMB/ Heads of 
Service/ Scrutiny/ 

June- November 

Appraisals  All June / August 
2026 

 

 
 
Transformation Plan  
 
3.3 The Transformation Plan should set out a clear, long-term vision for Bridgend in 

2040, and some broad themes and work streams for how we will achieve that 
vision. CMB, Heads of Service and a cross section of service managers have 
started the very early stages of a visioning process and developing prospective 
themes for inclusion in the transformation plan.  

 
3.4 The next phase of development of the transformation plan will include discussions 

around themes, and consideration of the priority ambitions or outcomes that sit 
underneath them. Discussions must include –  

 

• Cabinet / CMB 

• Group Leaders  

• Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committees 

• All members  

• Heads of Service and Group Managers  

• All staff  

• Trade Unions 

Page 21



 

• Stakeholders (including Public Scrutiny Board (PSB) and Town and Community 

Council Forum)  

• The public 

3.5 This engagement will start in November 2025 and continue into spring 2026. It is 
proposed that the draft transformation plan be considered by Cabinet and council in 
April 2026, following approval of the budget. Whilst the timing is challenging, it 
reflects the need for live management of the authority (annual budget setting etc) 
must be completed in parallel with the need to plan long term. It is also mindful of 
the need for pace to ensure there is impact of actions prior to the 2027/28 budget 
setting process. 

 
Corporate Plan Delivery Plan (CPDP)  
 
3.6 BCBC currently has a high level, five-year Corporate Plan 2023-28. The Council 

took a new approach for 2023 and did not include commitments or performance 
indicators in the Corporate Plan. Instead, we developed a one-year delivery plan so 
we could be more agile and flexible to our changing operating environment. 

  
3.7 For 2025/26, the CPDP was streamlined to better reflect Cabinet aspirations, the 

Council’s budget and CMB / Heads of Service requests for a shorter, more focused 
document.  

 
3.8 For 2026/27, once the development of the Transformation Plan is underway, we will 

review our priorities for the CPDP. We have said we will take our updated 
Corporate Plan Delivery Plan to Corporate Overview and Scrutiny Committee in 
April 2026, with targets to be set and taken to Cabinet / Council alongside the 
CPDP in May 2026. This will be with a view to ensuring the delivery plan for the 
council reflects the emerging transformation plan. 

 
Directorate Business Plan, service self-evaluations and individual appraisals 
 
3.9 Following completion of the CPDP, Directorate Business Plans will be completed to 

reflect the updated plans and other work underway in Directorates.  The process 
will be similar to the one in 2025 with a slightly later proposed deadline of June 
2026.  

 
3.10 Appraisals will take place in line with the existing protocol – that is April to 

September 2026 (with managers considering the extent of any changes proposed in 
the transformation plan / CPDP when timing appraisals). There will be a greater 
degree of performance monitoring compliance in this area. 

3.11 Recommendation 2- Put in place leadership development for senior staff and 
members to support this change. 
 

3.12 It is proposed to develop a leadership development programme and enhanced 
members training in 2026 and to support this scheme to allocate funding from our 
transformation earmarked reserve to support a two-year programme of 
development to underpin cultural change, and support our aim to being a more 
dynamic, creative, adaptable and sustainable Council. 

 

Page 22



 

3.13 Recommendation 3- The Council should increase its appetite for innovation 
with a focus on the future and delivery of outcomes: supporting staff and 
members to do that. This should involve reducing unnecessary bureaucracy 
to release capacity and empower managers 

3.14 It is proposed that a Workforce Strategy is developed in 2026 that sets out the 
behaviours and attributes we want in our workforce. A key element of change must 
be a programme of development that makes decision making and business process 
reengineering part of our core business. This will speed up decision making and 
enable processes to be more efficient, reduce unnecessary bureaucracy and deliver 
savings. Work is underway to identify the capacity and skills we have and need to 
deliver an effective improvement programme. This will resolve a central challenge in 
Bridgend that we have had limited automation of processes that would drive 
savings as the processes have to be first re-engineered to be able to apply 
automation. It is intended that a corporate transformation team will be established 
for this purpose ensuring modernisation, led by a Corporate Director will deliver 
change and sustainability to the council. 

3.15 Recommendation 4 - Rapidly review corporate and strategic capacity to 
ensure both sustainability of service delivery and supporting the emerging 
change programme. In addition, the council should consider bringing 
together key corporate enablers to unlock the potential of the organisation: 
e.g Human Resources, performance and communications 

3.16 The Council has, over the last decade reduced its second tier dramatically with less 
capacity than any other local authority we can identify in Wales. This poses a 
significant risk to the sustainability of the Authority. Specific risks and challenges 
include: 

• Creating several single points of failure in key statutory Directorates with potential 
regulatory and performance risk.  

• That Directors have focussed, appropriately on core business rather than 
transformation and change. Where this has been required (e.g. Childrens Services 
relatively modest investment in capacity has produced substantial results), a focus 
on core business has meant we successfully deliver good Social Services, Schools 
and we are financially safe with amongst the lowest borrowing in Wales. However, 
as pressures, expectations and finances tighten it has become increasingly 
challenging to deliver excellent, sustainable services in this way and this has left 
the Council at what the PPA describes as ‘at a crossroads’ in its development - 
recognising the need for change but struggling to have the capacity to drive it. 

• Regular acting down from Corporate Directors and Chief Officers as they spend 
disproportionate time firefighting operational problems. 

• Some Senior Officers having a wider span of responsibility that any equivalent post 
in Wales. 

• An inability of Corporate Directors to step back and drive strategic solutions and 
transformation of services and sustainability. As sector inflation continues to run 
higher than settlement figures this space to transform services will be essential. 

• We currently have a Chief Executive’s Directorate combining a wide range of 
functions from corporate e.g’ Finance, Human Resources etc to wholly operational 

Page 23



 

such as Registrars, Housing, and Communities administration. This makes little 
sense to the public and has a lack of coherence in delivery. 

• The lack of strategic capacity has created the lack of a pipeline of strategic 
investments and projects that would enable the Council to draw down external 
funding at a rate other neighbouring authorities are able to do. As a result the 
council risks missing the opportunity for millions of regional and national 
investment. 

 

3.17 The current Corporate team structure is:   

Chief Executive 

 
 

Corporate 
Director - 

Communities 

Corporate 
Director - 

Education, 
Early Years 
and Young 

People  

Corporate Director - 
Social Services and 

Wellbeing 

Chief Officer 
- Finance, 

Performance 
& Change  

Chief Officer 
- Legal & 

Regulatory 
Services, HR 
& Electoral 
Services  

Head of 
Operations  

Head of 
Learning 

Head of 
Adults 
Social 
Care  

Head of 
Children's 

Social 
Care  

Head of 
Partnership 

Services  
  

 
3.18 There are currently five Heads of Service within the Council.  As far as we can 

determine this is the smallest number in Wales.  It has been referenced by Audit 
Wales reports and in the recent PPA that this is a very lean structure and negatively 
impacts on the overall strategic capacity within the Council and specifically the 
capacity to manage risk. 

 
3.19 A success rightly highlighted in the peer assessment is the turnaround of Childrens 

Services. However, it is an illustration of the cost reputationally and financially where 
we are not sufficiently agile in acting at pace to address workforce or demand 
issues. The challenges facing Bridgend in workforce were the same as every other 
authority post pandemic but the lack of capacity to address this undoubtedly cost the 
authority more than if we had addressed shortfalls at an earlier stage. Following 
investment, the Social Services structure, whilst still relatively lean is structurally fit 
for purpose. 

 
3.20 The proposal for change is to place transformation at the heart of the Council whilst 

ensuring we have sufficient resilience to manage risk across the Directorates. To 
correct a structural anomaly, it is proposed that a Chief Officer post be consolidated 
to Corporate Director (in line with every local authority in Wales) and to introduce 
two new Heads of Service: a Head of Strategy, Early Years and Youth in the 
Education, Early Years and Young People Directorate and a Head of Public Realm 
reporting directly to the Chief Executive as set out below.  It is further proposed that 
the current temporary Head of Service arrangement (in place to continue well into 
2027) in the Communities Directorate be made permanent. Through reorganising 
priorities and re-alignment these can be largely delivered through existing budget 

Page 24



 

levels.  The proposed changes to the structure are referenced A,B,C,D and in bold 
below:  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Chief Executive –  

(B) Head of Performance and Workforce Cultural Change 

Corporate 
Director - 

Communities 

Corporate 
Director - 

Education, 
Early Years 
and Young 

People  

Corporate 
Director - 

Social 
Services and 

Wellbeing 

(A) Corporate 
Director - 

Finance and 
Transformation 

Chief 
Officer – 
Legal, 

Regulatory, 
and 

Electoral 
Services 

Head of 
Operations  

(C)Head 
of 

Public 
Realm  

Head of 
Learning 

(D) Head 
of 

Strategy, 
Early 
Years 
and 

Youth 

Head 
of 

Adults 
Social 
Care  

Head of 
Children's 

Social 
Care  

Head of Partnership 
Services  

  

  

 
3.21    (A) Corporate Director - Finance and Transformation 

The current Chief Officer Finance, Housing and Change is a structural anomaly 
sitting within an ill-defined Chief Executive’s Directorate.  In addressing this it not 
only aligns us with every other local authority in Wales where the finance function is 
held at a Corporate Director level, but it also enables us to disaggregate the Chief 
Executive Directorate (save for some key central functions) and ensures financial 
stability, sustainability and transformation are at the heart of the organization, driven 
by an accountable Corporate Director. This new emphasis will the give the 
postholder the statutory responsible for the finances of the council (near half a 
billion pounds) alongside the tools and enablers to drive change through IT and 
programme management. The cost differential is contained within the existing 
corporate budget.  
 

3.22 As it stands, the Chief Officer post covers such a range of services with areas as 
diverse as Housing, Democratic Services and ICT. By linking a transformation 
program of major projects and change (Note the transformation team proposed in 
paragraph 3.14). Through this we will ensure this post is dedicated to deliver strong 
core finances and to drive and facilitate the transformation of services. It will also 
lead the development of a transformation unit designed to be the engine room of 
change bringing together ICT/digital functions and change management capacity to 
improve pace, accountability and delivery in large change projects. The duties and 
span of responsibilities have been evaluated using the Council’s approved Job 
Evaluation Scheme, and there is a consequent change in the grade.  Following a 
period of consultation, the Council’s Appointments Committee will be recommended 

Page 25



 

to approve a matching process for the re-designated role.  This is on the basis that 
the current postholder will have a very strong contractual claim on the role. 

 
3.23 (B) Head of Performance & Workforce Cultural Change 

This post will report directly to the Chief Executive to lead and drive a performance 
culture across the Council ensuring the whole Authority works corporately to 
embedded cultural objectives. Its role will be to ensure the whole workforce is 
prepared, developed, challenged, and supported to be adaptable, creative, and 
accountable to meet Bridgend’s Corporate Objectives. It will ensure there is a 
golden thread between corporate policies, strategies and how we measure and 
report performance progress across the Council. It will ensure our communications 
internally and externally utilize modern communication methods of the highest 
standard and that the whole Council is galvanized to deliver clear and transparent 
communication.  
 

3.24 As part of this portfolio the post holder will be responsible for policy, performance, 
Human Resources and Communication. This development responds directly to 
address a recommendation from the Peer Review. Without this addition the Council 
will carry significant risk of not delivering the workforce and performance changes 
that it needs to increase productivity across its workforce. The development of 
Artificial Intelligence (AI) and associated technology is likely to have a profound 
impact on our workforce and helping staff to adapt and develop to work in different 
ways has to be a core part of our transformation strategy. The current 
arrangements are not sustainable, creating services against individuals larger and 
more diverse than any other comparable authority and resulting in functions such as 
Human Resources being predominantly transactional rather than as a catalyst for 
service development and cultural change.   

 
3.25 The new post of Head of Performance and Workforce Cultural Change impacts on 

the direct reports of the Chief Officer – Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and 
electoral and will thus be re-designated as the Chief Officer – Legal, Regulatory and 
electoral Services. There is recognition that given the substantial responsibilities in 
this role (wider than anyone we can identify in Wales undertaking Head of Legal 
and monitoring officer functions) and the expanding functions as Deputy returning 
officer, that there will be no detriment to this post holder. This has been confirmed 
using the councils job evaluation scheme.   

 
3.26 (C) Head of Public Realm  

Effective delivery of public facing environmental services has been a principal 
priority for some time in the Council. Change has been challenging to manage 
across these large operational public facing services. Bringing waste back in house 
will add to the scale of delivery and there is currently provision to enable us to do 
this. As a result, there are already effectively two Heads of Service posts funded 
within the Directorate with the Head of Operations seconded to deliver the in-
sourcing Waste Project and a backfill until 2027 (at least) of this post through the 
secondment of the Head of Partnership Services. It is proposed to replace the 
secondment with suitable project management arrangements and return this front 
facing Directorate to having two Heads of Service as was the case historically. Even 
with this addition it is relatively lean, but this does give much needed capacity in 
delivering services such as Waste, Highways and Green Spaces that many 
residents are most concerned about whilst allowing the Corporate Director to lead 
these but also to drive transformation in areas such as re-generation. Without this 

Page 26



 

long-term commitment, the Directorate carries significant risk and an over reliance 
on posts that could be points of critical failure.   

 
3.27 (D) Head of Strategy, Early Years and Youth  

The Education Directorate is our largest Directorate in terms of spend and staffing. 
The Directorate has been left vulnerable over the last year with the Corporate 
Director providing strategic oversight to the Directorate, and its 59 schools with no 
Head of service in place for a 6-month period. No other Directorate in a comparable 
authority in Wales has this low level of strategic cover. Through rationalising the 
Directorate’s wider management structure, this post is within the existing costs of 
the Directorate but crucially provides strategic capacity to provide more effective 
cover for the Corporate Director which allows for additional capacity for risk and 
change management.  Without this additional post, the Directorate carries 
significant risk and an overreliance on posts that could be points of critical failure. 
  

3.28 The new post of Head of Strategy, Early Years and Youth will assume strategic 
management responsibility for childcare and youth services (including youth 
justice), and a range of high-risk, significant-value service areas (such as home-to-
school transport and health and safety). 

 
3.29 Given the changes to the portfolios and Job Descriptions of the current Heads of 

Service in these areas, the duties and span of responsibilities have also been 
evaluated using the Council’s approved Job Evaluation scheme, and there is no 
change to the grade.  There will need to be statutory consultation with current 
postholders. This will be led by the relevant Corporate Directors and Chief Executive 
with HR support. Following this consultation, an appointments process will need to 
be undertaken in compliance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (Wales) 
Regulations 2006 (as amended) and the Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
within Section 12 of the Council’s Constitution.  The Council will engage professional 
support to undertake an executive search and assessment for these roles to ensure 
that it is marketed widely and that a robust appointments process is followed. The 
Council’s Appointments Committee will undertake shortlisting and final interview of 
candidates.  

 
3.30 Recommendation 5- Review and refresh its approach to digital and data to 

support the emerging transformation plan including- Funding, systems, skills, 
culture 

3.31 A formal review is underway to appraise the capacity and skills we currently have. 
This should be completed in December 2026 with recommendations for change to 
ensure the service is fit for purpose to act as an enabler of change and 
modernisation across the council. We are substantially behind where we need to be 
in relation to applying artificial intelligence. It is envisaged some pilots will be 
identified to ensure some critical areas are developed where the model is proven 
elsewhere. This approach will inform a digital strategy, governance and any 
investment that is needed. 

3.32 Recommendation 6 – Consider a whole authority approach to promoting the 
work of the council and the County of Bridgend with pride. 

3.33 Bridgend has much to be proud of in terms of place, many services and its people. 
Cultural change means celebrating success better and getting an appropriate 
balance that delivers transparency about performance (owning when we can do 

Page 27



 

better) and a celebration of Bridgend as a place to live and work. Work is underway 
to determine how we celebrate success internally. A new structure for the 
communications team has been put in place in recent weeks and communicating 
with residents about what we do and how we are working on the areas that are a 
concern to them will be key.  

3.34 Recommendation 7- Consider building on its good relations with partners in 
the public, private, community and voluntary sector in order to deliver 
Bridgend’s vision and priorities. 

3.35 This is cross cutting all areas and engaging initially with partners and communities 
in the development of our transformation strategy will be critical. 

3.36  Recommendation 8 - As an immediate priority, the council should improve 
it’s responsiveness to members, stakeholders and citizens as a part of 
building a culture of mutual respect for all. 

3.37 New arrangements will be put in place to establish clear standards and timelines of 
communication and to ensure where issues are not easily resolvable that members 
have a clear pathway to engage with officers. It is envisaged this will be in place by 
December 2025 with a review then in March to consider the impact of changes.  

4 Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
5 Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 

Well-being Objectives 
 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives as a result of this report. 

 
6 Climate Change and Nature Implications  

6.1 There are no climate change or nature implications directly arising from this report. 
However, if the proposal proceeds the postholders can contribute strategically in 
both these areas.  

 
7 Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 

7.1 There are no direct safeguarding or corporate parent implications arising from this 
report. 

 
8 Financial Implications  
 
8.1 The proposed funding of these changes is detailed below: 
 

Page 28



 

• Corporate Director – Finance and Transformation, will be funded from uncommitted 

centrally held provisions for pay awards, following the lower than anticipated pay 

increases in 2025 / 2026. 

• Head of Performance & Workforce Cultural Change - this post will be funded from 

the earmarked reserve (EMR) that was established to support change management 

for a period of at least two years and subsequently reviewed. It is intended this post 

will support the delivery of base budget reductions that will support its ongoing 

funding. 

• Head of Public Realm – The additional funding required will be funded from the 

recurring Extended Producer Responsibility funding. In the event this ends it will be 

reviewed in line with a wide range of other commitments. 

• Head of Strategy, Early Years and Youth – this post will be funded through 

rationalising the directorate’s wider management structure and will be within the cost 

of the directorate. 

8.2 The net base budget cost of the proposed management restructure is £20,000. 
 
8.3 The ongoing funding of those posts funded by grant and / or EMR will have to be 

determined should there be a change to these funding arrangements. 
 
9 Recommendations 

 
 It is recommended that Council: 
 
9.1 Note the initial response to the PPA recommendations with progress to be monitored 

through the corporate planning structures; 
 
9.2 Delegate authority to relevant Corporate Directors and the Chief Executive to 

commence a formal consultation with relevant JNC officers;  
 
9.3 Delegate authority to the Chief Executive to determine the final JNC senior 

management structure following the formal consultation and appoint to it in 
accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules within the Constitution;  

 
9.5 Delegate authority to the Monitoring Officer to make minor amendments to the 

Constitution and the Scheme of Delegation of Functions in relation to references to 
the portfolio and job title of the relevant JNC officers following the appointment 
processes.    

 
 
Background documents 
None   

Page 29



 

Appendix A 

[Cite your 
source 
here.] Bridgend County Borough Council 

Panel Performance Assessment (PPA) 

Report 

September 2025 
  

Page 30



 

1. Introduction and Background 

 

1.1 In accordance with the performance duties under the Local Government & Elections 

(Wales) Act 2021, Bridgend County Borough Council (Cyngor Bwrdeistref Sirol Pen-

Y-Bont ar Ogwr) commissioned a Panel Performance Assessment (PPA) via the 

Welsh Local Government Association (WLGA).  

1.2 The onsite assessment was completed over a four-day period concluding on 19th 

September 2025 with a feedback presentation provided to the Council outlining the 

key findings detailed within this report. 

1.3 The assessment was undertaken based on the Council’s agreed scoping document 

and the WLGA’s PPA methodology, which was developed with the sector. The PPA 

methodology provides an overarching framework: the lines of enquiry are not 

prescriptive but provide guidance to the Panel on the areas that could be explored 

to meet the statutory duty. However, the extent to which the Panel explores those 

areas should be proportionate to the Council’s scope but sufficient to enable the 

Panel to form a conclusion. 

1.4 In accordance with the statutory guidance the PPA is not an audit or an inspection 

and does not seek to duplicate work undertaken by regulators and other bodies. 

Whilst the Panel has undertaken a corporate assessment, this assessment was not 

in-depth and should be considered alongside other sources of assurance such as 

the Council’s own self-assessment, internal audit reviews, external audit, and 

regulatory reviews.  

1.5 In preparing for the PPA, the Council scoped their requirements to maximise the 

value and impact of the assessment to the Council. The specific areas of focus 

identified by the Council are reflected in paragraph 3.2. 

1.6 This report provides a summary overview of the conclusions of the Panel reported 

by exception.  

2. Peer Team 
 
2.1 The following Peers were commissioned by the WLGA to undertake the 

assessment. Selection of the Peers was agreed and at the discretion of the Council, 

based on suitability of skills and experience:  

• Independent Chair: Sally Loudon - Former Chief Executive of the Convention 

of Scottish Local Authorities (COSLA), former Chief Executive of Argyll and 

Bute Council.  

• Senior Member Peer: Cllr Andrew Stevens - Serving Councillor and Cabinet 

Member for Environment & Infrastructure at Swansea Council.  

• Senior Officer Peer: Gareth Newell - Head of Performance and Partnerships, 

Cardiff Council.  

• Wider Public, Private, or Voluntary Sector Peer: Anne-Louise Clark, former 

Executive Director – Communication and Change for Audit Wales & Chair of 

the Board of Trustees for Platform for Change Ltd. 

2.2 The Panel was supported by, Cerith Thomas, Senior Policy Officer (Improvement – 

Democratic Services) and Lyndon Puddy (Panel Performance Assessment 

Manager, both from the WLGA’s Improvement Team.  

 

 

 

Page 31



 

     3. Scope and Approach 

 

3.1  The Panel is required to assess the extent to which the Council: 

• Is exercising its functions effectively. 

• Is using its resources economically, efficiently, and effectively; and 

• Has effective governance in place for securing the above. 

 

3.2  The Council identified the following three areas where peer insight would be valued 

as part of the Panel assessment: Transformation, Addressing Workforce 

Challenges and Improving Engagement. The Council welcomed the Panel’s 

support in providing high-level insights on these priority areas which encompass the 

whole Council and involve all directorates. 

• Transformation – The development of the Council’s approach to 

transformation that meets political and key stakeholder aspirations, including 

how effective arrangements are for delivery, performance management and 

the culture underpinning transformation. The Council had identified a clear 

need to focus on mechanisms and capacity for transformation that would 

improve citizens experience and create an organisation that is sustainable in 

the medium and long term.  

• Addressing Workforce Challenges – Building on strengthened workforce 

planning, consider the Council’s approach to address challenges in 

recruitment in key areas, and improve succession planning, to help create a 

long-term workforce strategy. 

• Improving Engagement – Building on improvements to strategic 

communication, identify what further the Council can do to improve 

engagement and relationships internally with Councillors and externally with 

local communities and Town and Community Councils to help it become 

more citizen focused.  

3.3  To prepare for the onsite assessment, the Panel first conducted a desktop review of 

Council documentation, data, external reports, and other relevant intelligence. The 

Peers also participated in preliminary online meetings.  

 

3.4 The Panel spent approximately 240 hours plus, during onsite stage of the review 

involving a series of individual meetings and focus groups with the following 

stakeholders: 

• Leader of the Council 

• Chief Executive 

• The Cabinet – Focus Group 

• Cabinet Member for Health & Social Services and Deputy Leader 

• Cabinet Members for Resources (Job Share) 

• Cabinet Member for Finance and Resources 

• Focus Group, Elected Members - non-executive 

• Leaders of the Opposition Groups (Bridgend County Independents & 

Democratic Alliance) 

• Focus Group - Scrutiny Chairs 

• Chair of Democratic Services Committee 

• Independent Chair of the Governance & Audit Committee 

• Independent Chair of the Standards Committee 

Page 32



 

• Chief Officer, Legal and Regulatory Services, HR and Corporate Policy 

• Chief Officer Finance Housing & Change (Section 151 Officer) 

• Corporate Director, Social Services and Wellbeing 

• Corporate Director, Communities 

• Corporate Director, Education, Early Years and Young People 

• Interim Head of Operations - Community Services (recently seconded from 

Head of Partnerships and Housing) 

• Group Manager - Human Resources and Organisational Development 

• Group Manager for Communications and Public Affairs, Marketing, 

Consultation and Engagement 

• Deputy Head of Finance and Deputy Head of the Regional Internal Audit 

Service Corporate Policy and Public Affairs Manager and Corporate 

Performance Manager 

• Group Manager Economy, Natural Resources & Sustainability 

• Group Manager Planning & Development (Head of Planning) 

• Staff Focus Group - Heads of Service and Deputy Heads of Service 

• Staff Focus Group (Group Managers) 

• Staff Focus Group – (Frontline staff) 

• Headteachers - Focus Group 

• Youth Council Representatives – Focus Group 

• Leader and Chief Executive of Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council 

• Leader and Chief Executive of the Vale of Glamorgan Council 

• Chief Executive of Cwm Taf Morgannwg University Health Board 

• South Wales Police – Chief Superintendent  

• Town and Community Councils – Focus Group 

• Trade Unions – Focus Group 

• Business Community – Focus Group 

• Citizens Panel Focus Group 

• Stakeholder Focus Group - Older people 

• Chief Executive of Halo Leisure – Community focussed social enterprise 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 33



 

 

4. Overall Conclusion 

 

4.1  Bridgend is a good Council with untapped potential. The political and managerial 

leadership is ambitious for the whole County and they have the full support of a 

dedicated and enthusiastic workforce. The staff are deeply committed to the Council 

and the communities it serves, demonstrating a high level of self-awareness and a 

shared understanding of both the Council’s strengths and the challenges ahead. 

 

4.2  The Council has already demonstrated its capability with impressive turnarounds in 

key areas, particularly Children’s Services, and is well positioned to build on this 

success for the benefit of the wider Council. The assessment findings show that 

Bridgend is ready and ambitious for change and has a positive outlook on its future. 

 

4.3 The Council is, however, at a “crossroads” in terms of its development and now is 

the time to act at pace. By making the necessary changes now, the Council can 

ensure it can sustain services and continue to deliver for its communities for years 

to come. 

 

 5. Local Context (source PPA scoping document) 

 

5.1 Bridgend County Borough Council covers around 110 square miles, stretching from 

the Ogmore, Garw, and Llynfi valleys in the north to the Bristol Channel coastline in 

the south. The main commercial centres are Bridgend, Maesteg, and the seaside 

resort of Porthcawl. The county borough is divided by the M4 and boasts main-line 

rail links going east to London and west to Swansea.  

 

 Population and Community Demographics  

5.2 Bridgend had a population of 145,760 at the 2021 census, a 4.5% increase from 

2011. The population is projected to grow by 7.5% in the next 20 years. In its 

population: 

  

• 50.6% are female and 49.4% are male.  

• 96.78% identify as white. 1.48% of people identify as Asian. 1.16% identify 

as mixed race. 0.29% identify as black. 0.29% identify as other ethnic group   

• 22.64% have disabilities that limit their day-to-day activities a little or a lot.  

  

5.3 Similar to the rest of Wales, the borough has an aging population with the fastest 

growing age category being over 65 which increased by 21.5% between 2011 and 

2021. During the same time, under 15s only increased by 2.6%. This can present 

challenges to the Council’s services including health, social care and housing. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 34



 

Health and Deprivation  

5.4 In 2021, 46.3% of residents described their health as “very good,” up from 45.1% in 

2011. However, there are significant health disparities. 

Bridgend has 7 areas identified as having ‘Deep Rooted Deprivation’. These are 

areas that have remained within the top 50 most deprived areas in Wales for the last 

five publications of Welsh Index of Multiple Deprivation ranks.  

In Bridgend 70% of people aged 16+ are in “good or very good” general health, 

which is the national average. Physical activity uptake and healthy eating rates are 

below the national average and Bridgend is home to some of the most materially 

deprived places in Wales. Bridgend has an obesity rate above the national average. 

The healthy weight in under 25s is also slightly below the Wales average. 18% of 

adults in Bridgend smoke, slightly above the national average (17%). Mental 

wellbeing is slightly better than the Wales average. 

 

Employment and Skills  

5.5  Bridgend has around 3,770 enterprises, with a significant number of micro-

enterprises (up to nine employees). Key employers include Bridgend County 

Borough Council, which employs around 6,000 people, and major public and private 

sector employers in manufacturing and medical device engineering.  

The employment rate (ages 16 to 64) is 67.1% and employment in Bridgend has 

decreased compared with the previous year. Bridgend's employment rate was lower 

than Wales as a whole in the year ending December 2023.  

 

Skills and Unemployment Welfare  

5.6 As of May 2024, Bridgend has an unemployment rate of 3.5%, though people 

looking for work has risen since a year earlier. The most recent unemployment rate 

for Bridgend was lower than Wales as a whole. Economic inactivity has increased 

since the previous year; these are people who are neither employed nor seeking 

work. The Claimant Count measures the number of people who are claiming 

unemployment-related benefits between the ages of 16-64 is 2.8%. Claimant Count 

was lower in March 2024 compared with a year earlier. 

 

Infrastructure and Transport Links  

5.7 The county benefits from excellent transport infrastructure, including the M4 

motorway, which provides quick access to Cardiff and Swansea. There are also 

high-speed rail services and proximity to Cardiff Airport. Active travel routes are 

being developed to improve walking and cycling infrastructure. The Council has 

recently adopted a new Local Development Plan (LDP), which will shape 

development up to 2033. 

   

Housing and Affordability  

5.8 The average house price in Bridgend is approximately £187,812. 71% of 

households in Bridgend County either own their home outright or via a mortgage. A 

further 15% rented privately, while 14% rented socially. Porthcawl has the highest 

levels of home ownership and the Pyle/Kenfig Hill area the lowest. The Ogmore 

Valley had the highest proportion of private tenants (21%). The Council manages a 

common housing register to allocate social housing and offers various support 

services to prevent homelessness. The Council’s Housing Support Programme 

Strategy 2022-26 sets out six new priorities and associated objectives.   

Page 35

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/media/izcfgp1f/written-statement.pdf
https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s30849/4a.%20Appendix%201%20-%20Housing%20Support%20Programme%20Strategy%202022-2026%20FINAL.pdf
https://democratic.bridgend.gov.uk/documents/s30849/4a.%20Appendix%201%20-%20Housing%20Support%20Programme%20Strategy%202022-2026%20FINAL.pdf


 

The proportion of properties liable for council tax that are second homes (0.1%) is 

well below the all-Wales average (1.8%).  

 

Local Climate Challenges  

5.9 Bridgend has committed to achieving net-zero carbon emissions by 2030. The 

Council has a comprehensive strategy to address climate change, including 

decarbonising its operations and promoting sustainable practices.  Achievements to 

date include LED street lighting, retrofit programme for energy efficiency, the 

expansion of local nature reserves, tree planting and a sustainable procurement 

strategy.  

  

The Council  

5.10 Political Leadership  

At the last local elections in May 2022, there were 51 seats contested in the 

election, 3 fewer than in 2017. The next Bridgend County Borough Council elections 

are due to take place in May 2027.  

 

5.11 The current administration is a Labour majority with 26 Councillors, 23 

independents (13 Bridgend County Independents, 8 Democratic Alliance and 2 

Independent), 1 Conservative and 1 Reform. 

 

5.12 The Leader of the Council is Councillor John Spanswick and Councillor Jane Gebbie 

is the Deputy Leader. 

 

5.13 Senior Management   

The Council’s senior management comprises the Chief Executive, Jake Morgan, 

who started in post in July 2025. He is supported by three Corporate Directors who 

are responsible for services delivery. There are two Chief Officers in the Chief 

Executives’ directorate, and a Head of Internal Audit. 

 

6. Strengths and Areas of Innovation 

 

6.1 Bridgend County Borough Council demonstrated a consistent alignment of ambition 
for the area. The Panel noted that Cabinet, Officers, backbench Members, 
opposition Members and stakeholders were positive and ambitious for the County, 
promoting a positive, welcoming and friendly culture. This is supported by 
enthusiastic, committed and caring staff who are optimistic about the future. The 
Council shows a tangible appetite for change that was evident to the peer panel 
members. 

6.2 A prime example of this is the successful turnaround in children's services. This 

achievement highlights strong political and officer leadership and remarkable 

resilience, providing valuable lessons that can be shared throughout the 

organisation to drive future success. 

 

6.3 The Council also exhibits a high level of self-awareness with a clear and shared 

understanding of both its strengths and its areas for improvement. This is further 

reinforced by the establishment of a new budget working group which 

demonstrates a proactive and collaborative approach to financial management and 

strategic planning that involves a substantial number of elected members from 

across the Administration and Opposition parties.  

Page 36

https://www.bridgend.gov.uk/council/plans-and-strategies/net-zero-carbon-strategy/#:~:text=The%20Council%20will%20decarbonise%20its,vehicles%20are%20ULEV%20by%202030.


 

 

6.4 The Panel noted that Bridgend Council has the highest recycling rate in Wales, 73% 

in 2023-24. That exceeds the Welsh Government's statutory target for all Councils 

to reach a recycling rate of 70% by 2024-25, a target that Bridgend and a few other 

Councils have already exceeded. 

 

6.5 Schools in Bridgend are rated as strong in inspections, with only one school 

currently requiring follow up by Estyn. There have been 18 spotlights of effective 

practice were identified by Estyn from the 15 core inspections in the 2024-2025 

school year. 

 

7. Local and National Challenges 

 

7.1 Bridgend County Borough Council, like all Councils in Wales, is facing significant 

financial sustainability challenges with a Q1 projection of £898k overspend for 

2025/26. 

 

7.2 The Council highlighted exceptional demands across some of its key service areas 

including support for children with Additional Learning Needs, older people's care, 

complex children's placements and homelessness. There are changing patterns of 

need in other service areas, for example behaviour in schools and attendance. 

Some services have worked hard to meet expectations but have limited capacity 

and resilience following years of budget cuts. 

 

7.3 Financial Performance:  

 

• In 2024/25 Bridgend underspent by £300,000 against its £361 million budget, 

which is around 0.1% of the budget. However, the overall position masks 

significant pressure in some areas of the budget as well as a significant 

contribution to reserves.  

• Schools’ balances fell from £2.4m on 31st March 2024 to a negative balance of 

£619,000 on 31st March 2025   

• The Council reported that 88% of the 2024/25 budget savings were achieved in 

full.  

 

 7.4 Strategic Financial Planning:  

 

• The total budget gap over the four-year period from 2025/26 is approximately 

£39.5m using a most likely scenario. After identified savings (25/26) a gap of 

£27.265m remains. 

• The Council reports work will now be undertaken to identify the mitigations 

required in order to bridge the gap and allow for any required investment over and 

above the unavoidable pressures already identified.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 37



 

7.5 Budget Setting:  

 

• The 2025/26 budget includes a Council Tax increase of 4.5%.  

• The 2025/26 Local Government Funding Settlement was better than the Council’s 

initial assumptions.  

• The budget required £8.379m of savings. It would have been higher but for the 

better-than-expected financial settlement from Welsh Government  

 

7.6 Other Issues:  

 

• The August 2024 Audit Wales Financial Sustainability Assessment review of 

Bridgend County Borough Council found ‘the Council understands its financial 

position with good arrangements to support its financial sustainability which it 

flexes and adapts but is at the early stage of developing its long-term 

approach’.  

• The Council does not have its own housing stock so does not have a Housing 

Revenue Account (HRA).  

• Bridgend has a ten-year rolling capital programme that has been set for      

2025-26, and on an indicative basis for the nine years thereafter. It has been 

profiled in accordance with technical advice relating to regulatory processes, 

timetables and work plans.  

 

 7.7 Performance Against its 2024/25 Budget  

 

7.7.1 The net revenue budget for 2024-25 was £360.671 million. The overall outturn at 

31st March 2025 was a net under spend of £300,000 which was transferred to the 

Council’s General Fund.  

 

7.7.2 This takes into account the setting up of a net £13.063 million of new earmarked 

reserves in 2024-25 to enable service investment, to mitigate future risks and 

expenditure commitments. Total Directorate budgets had a net over spend of 

£2.376 million and Council Wide budgets a net underspend of £15.128 million. The 

outturn position includes additional council tax income collected over budget of 

£611,000 during the financial year.  

 

7.7.3 The Council states ‘the overall under spend on the Council budget significantly masks 

underlying budget pressures in Additional Learning Needs services, Home to School 

Transport, and Children’s social care’.  

 

7.7.4 The main reasons for the overall under spend in 2024-25 are: -  

• Unanticipated Welsh Government grant of £3.290 million towards the 

teachers’ pay award for 2024 25 and NJC pay pressures.  

• A £2.044 million saving from Council agreeing a change in the Minimum 

Revenue Provision Policy on 23 October 2024.  

• Unanticipated Welsh Government grant of £2.024 million towards revenue 

cost pressures.  

• Not needing to utilise the £1.558 million that was built into the Medium-Term 

Financial Strategy 2024-28 towards emerging budget pressures and as a 

contingency against non-deliverability of budget reduction proposals.  

Page 38



 

 

7.7.5 The budget approved for 2024-25 included budget savings of £13.045 million. At 

31st March 2025 there was a shortfall on the savings target of £1.569 million, or 

12.03% of the overall reduction target. 

 

7.7.6 During 2024-25 Directorates drew down funding from specific earmarked reserves. 

The final draw down of revenue reserves was £5.397 million.  

 

 

8. Overview of Findings. 

 

Local areas, as identified by the Council, where peer insight would be valued as 

part of the Panel assessment 

 

8.1 Transformation 

 

8.1.1 There is a clear alignment of ambition for change, with a strong appetite and 

excitement for transformation across the organisation. This shared belief that it is 

the right thing to do at the right time, coupled with evidence of innovation in some 

areas, provides a powerful foundation. To fully capitalise on this momentum, the 

following areas require focussed attention:  

 

8.1.2 Develop a new Transformation Plan: The Council should create a clear, 

comprehensive transformation plan. This process must be highly collaborative, 

actively involving staff, Members, partners, and communities to ensure buy-in and a 

shared vision. 

 

8.1.3 Strengthen Strategic Capacity: Delivering on this level of change requires greater 

strategic and corporate capacity within the organisation. The Council should 

address any gaps to ensure its ability to manage and implement a large-scale 

transformation programme, maintain or improve its performance and the ability to 

measure impact. 

 

8.1.4 Transformation based on Data and Insight: To be truly effective, the Council’s 

transformation efforts must be grounded in robust data and insight. This will ensure 

its decisions are evidence based and its efforts are focussed on the area that will 

deliver the greatest impact. 

 

8.1.5 Review Digital and Data Approach: A critical component of the emerging 

transformation plan is the Council’s approach to digital and data. It should review its 

current funding, systems, skills and culture to ensure the digital function can be an 

enabler to the changes it aims to achieve. 

 

8.2 Addressing Workforce Challenges 

 

8.2.1 Bridgend County Borough Council has a strong and positive organisational culture, 

staff feel appreciated and the culture is perceived as caring. This is further 

reinforced by the strong working relationships with Trade Unions. Officers are also 

proud of the impact the Council has on communities across the County. 

Page 39



 

 

8.2.2 While the Council has a firm foundation, there are opportunities to become more 

strategic and forward-thinking. The current workforce plan needs to evolve to be 

more aligned with a new vision and transformation plan for the organisation. This 

includes addressing key areas such as succession planning, developing the 

workforce for the future to meet changing demands, and integrating digital and data 

capabilities into the workforce strategy. 

 

8.2.3 To support this the Council should consider implementing a corporate “grow your 

own” programme. This would involve strengthening links with local higher and 

further education institutions to create a pipeline of talent that is specifically 

developed to meet the Council’s needs. 

 

8.2.4 Finally, while staff already feel appreciated, the Council should consider a more 

formal and corporate approach to staff celebration and appreciation. This could 

further embed positive feelings across all departments and initiatives. 

 

 

8.3 Improving Engagement 

 

8.3.1 The Council demonstrates a clear commitment to improving engagement with its 

citizens and communities. This commitment is evidenced by the appointment of a 

Town and Community Council Liaison Officer and the refreshing of the Citizens 

Panel – recruiting new members and utilising citizen focus groups. The plan to 

utilise citizen focus groups is a positive step towards gaining deeper insights into 

community perspectives. Furthermore, the organisation has a corporate 

communications function in place and shows evidence of engagement across 

various departments. 

 

8.3.2 However, several areas require attention to ensure a consistent and effective 

approach to engagement. While there are pockets of good practice, responsiveness 

to key stakeholders, including Members, scrutiny bodies, Town and Community 

Councils, and the general public, is not consistent across all parts of the 

organisation and was frequently reported as being slow and frustrating to those 

involved. The Council should focus on improving responsiveness to Members and 

the public as a short-term priority. 

 

 

8.3.3 The Council should consider a more holistic, “whole Council approach” to  

promoting its work and the wider county of Bridgend. This would help to create a 

unified message and ensure that all departments are aligned in their communication 

efforts. While corporate communications are in place, they need to become more 

forward looking and proactive, especially in a period of change. It is vital that these 

communications effectively reach all staff, as internal communication is a key 

element of a successful and responsive organisation. 

 

8.3.4 Additionally, there is a need to improve existing consultation and engagement 

practices. This includes making greater use of local Members, community groups, 

Page 40



 

and other existing or established engagement or community infrastructure to 

promote engagement initiatives. 

 

8.3.5 A critical component of effective engagement is “closing the feedback loop,” in a 

timely manner and this needs to be strengthened to ensure that members, citizens 

and wider stakeholders are informed of the results of engagement and how it has 

been used to inform decision making. 

 

Statutory performance requirements considered by the Panel. 

 

8.4 The extent to which the Council is exercising its functions effectively. 

 

8.4.1 Bridgend County Borough Council demonstrates a robust framework in the effective 

use of its resources, shown by good performance across its services and a 

consistent performance narrative shared by both Members and Officers. This 

success is underpinned by the dedication and commitment of its staff and elected 

Members, who share a genuine eagerness for positive change.  

 

8.4.2 While there are commendable examples of cross-Council collaboration, this 

practice is not yet evident across the entire Authority, suggesting an area for future 

development. The Council’s self-assessment also identifies key areas for 

improvement. Specifically, there is a need to strengthen corporate and strategic 

capacity.  

 

8.4.3 The Panel notes from a number of different meetings that unnecessary bureaucracy 

and procedures are currently stifling empowerment and delaying decision-making, 

which hinders the agile and efficient use of resources including staff time. The panel 

heard, for example ‘having to have a business case for all spend’, ‘committee 

reports having multiple versions as it went through the different layers of the 

Council’ and that this took significant time and led to frustration. Addressing 

systematic and potentially unnecessary procedural delays will be crucial for 

unlocking the full potential of the Council’s workforce. 

 

8.5 The extent to which the Council is using its resources economically, 

efficiently, and effectively. 

 

8.5.1 Bridgend County Borough Council demonstrates strong financial stewardship, 

characterised by effective financial management and robust monitoring. This is 

further enhanced by greater involvement from a wider range of Members in the 

budget setting process, promoting a more collaborative approach to financial 

planning. The Council also benefits from good relationships with its partners and 

stakeholders, who have expressed a strong desire to be more strategically involved 

in future activities. 

 

8.5.2 Looking ahead, there are key opportunities for improvement. It is essential to 

ensure that the budget and Medium-Term financial Strategy (MTFS) are more 

closely aligned with the new vision and change programme, providing a clear 

financial roadmap for the Council’s strategic direction. The Council as a whole 

Page 41



 

should also encourage a greater appetite for innovation moving beyond traditional 

approaches to find new and innovative ways of working. 

 

 

8.5.3 A significant area for development is cultivating a unified “Team Bridgend” culture. 

This involves promoting greater cross-service and partner working to break down 

silos and encourage a more collaborative environment. To support this a whole 

Council approach to communication is needed, moving beyond the sole 

responsibility of the Communications Team to ensure a consistent and cohesive 

message is shared by everyone. 

 

8.6 The extent to which the Council has effective Governance in place. 

 

8.6.1 Overall, the Council demonstrates strong governance arrangements and systems, 

with a robust performance management framework already in place. The 

organisation’s engagement with Trade Unions is effective, supporting positive 

relationships that contribute to a collaborative environment. Furthermore, the 

existing scrutiny arrangements are well-regarded by the majority of Members, 

highlighting their value overseeing the Council’s work. 

 

8.6.2 While there are clear strengths, the Panel identified several key areas for 

improvement to enhance overall effectiveness: 

 

8.6.3 Leadership and Culture: There is a continuing need to build a more cohesive 

 leadership team and develop a culture that promotes unity and shared purpose. 

 

8.6.4 Performance Management: Although a good framework is in place, it needs to be 

more deeply embedded across the Council to ensure consistent ownership and 

accountability for performance goals. 

 

8.6.5 Stakeholder responsiveness: The Council’s responsiveness to Members, 

Scrutiny committees, stakeholders and citizens is inconsistent. Efforts should be 

made to ensure that communication and action are uniform and reliable across all 

services. 

 

8.6.6 Scrutiny Processes: Scrutiny papers should be more concise,  the panel heard of 

some papers being over 600 pages and lengthy Scrutiny Committees. Additionally, 

there is a need for greater evidence demonstrating the impact of outcomes of the 

scrutiny process. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



 

9. Opportunities for Improvement – Recommendations 

 

9.1 We have carefully considered the three required performance areas and the 

additional three areas identified by the Council for local consideration as part of the 

assessment process. This report contains a number of observations and comments 

about the Council’s performance in each of these areas. They should be considered 

along with the recommendations set out below.  

 

9.2 Overall, the Panel has concluded that Bridgend is a good Council at a crossroads. 

Without effective change, service delivery will be impacted; however, this can be 

avoided and for the Council to take its performance to the next level we recommend 

it should implement the following recommendations: 

 

1.  The Council has appointed a Chief Executive to lead and deliver change. The 

Council should now support him to develop an inspiring vision, a 

Transformation Strategy, underpinning corporate strategies and the cultural 

shift required to produce both sustainability of services, greater cross-Council 

working and innovation – which involves staff, communities and partners. 

 

2.  Put in place leadership development for senior staff and Members to support 

this change. 

3.  The Council should, as a whole, increase its appetite for innovation with a  

focus on the future and delivery of outcomes; supporting staff and Members  

to do that. This should involve reducing unnecessary bureaucracy to release  

capacity and empower managers. 

4.  Rapidly review corporate and strategic capacity to ensure both sustainability 

of service delivery and supporting the overall emerging change programme. 

In addition, the Council should consider bringing together key corporate 

enablers to unlock the potential of the organisation: e.g. Human Resources, 

Performance and Communications. 

 

5.  Review and refresh its approach to digital and data to support the emerging 

Transformation Plan including: 

• Funding  

• Systems 

• Skills 

• Culture 

 

6.  Consider a whole Authority approach to promoting the work of the Council 

and the County of Bridgend – with pride. 

7.  Consider building on its good relations with partners in the public, private, 

community and voluntary sector in order to deliver Bridgend's vision and 

priorities. 

 

8.  As an immediate priority, the Council should improve its responsiveness to 

Members, stakeholders and citizens as part of building a culture of mutual 

respect for all.  

Page 43



 

10. Improvement Support 

 

If you would like to discuss any further improvement support, please contact   

Jo Hendy, WLGA Head of Improvement. 

 

11. Acknowledgements 

 

11.1 The Panel and the WLGA would like to extend their thanks to the Council for its 

engagement throughout the PPA and we especially appreciate the support and 

openness from the Leader, Councillor John Spanswick and Chief Executive, Jake 

Morgan. Our thanks and appreciation also go to the following Council Officers for 

their invaluable support in coordinating documentation requests, responding to 

queries, arranging meetings and workshops, and providing onsite assistance: 

 

Alex Rawlin – Corporate Policy and Public Affairs Manager 

Kate Pask – Corporate Performance Manager                                   

Michael Spanswick – Information and System Support Officer 

Emma Griffiths – Senior CMB Support Officer 

Michelle Lachetta – CMB Support Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Produced by the Welsh Local Government Association - September 2025 

 

Page 44



 

 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
19 NOVEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME QUARTER 2 UPDATE 2025-26 

 

 
Report Owner / 
Responsible Chief 
Officer / Cabinet 
Member:  

 

 
CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, HOUSING AND CHANGE 

Responsible 
Officer:  

HUW POWELL  
CAPITAL ACCOUNTANT 

 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

Paragraph 3.5.3 of the Financial Procedure Rules requires 
that the Chief Finance Officer shall report quarterly to 
Cabinet and Council with an update on the Capital Strategy 
and the Prudential Indicators. This report fulfils that 
requirement. There is no impact on the policy framework or 
procedure rules. 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

• The report provides an update on the quarter 2 spend 

and projected spend for 2025-26 as at 30 September 

2025, the revised capital programme for 2025-26 to 

2034-35 and the projected Prudential and Other 

Indicators for 2025-26. 

• Appendix A shows the budgets, spend to date and 

projected year end spend as at 30 September 2025 for 

the individual schemes in 2025-26. 

• Appendix B shows the revised capital programme for 

2025-26 to 2034-35. 

• Appendix C provides details of the actual Prudential 

and Other Indicators for 2024-25 and projected 

Prudential and Other Indicators for 2025-26. 

 
 
1. Purpose of Report  
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to: 

 

• Comply with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s (CIPFA) 
‘The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities’ requirement to 
report performance against all forward looking indicators on a quarterly basis. 

• Provide an update to Council on the capital programme position for 2025-26 as at 
30 September 2025 (Appendix A). 

Page 45

Agenda Item 8



 

• Ask Council to note the net slippage of £84.515 million into 2026-27 as detailed 
in Appendix B. 

• Seek Council’s approval for the virements between schemes as detailed in 
Appendix B. 

• Seek Council’s approval of the new additions /reductions to the capital programme 
in 2025 totalling £6.119 million as outlined in Appendix B. 

• Ask Council to note the actual Prudential and Other Indicators for 2024-25 and 
the projected Prudential and Other Indicators for 2025-26 (Appendix C). 

 
2. Background  
 
2.1 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (Wales) Regulations 2003 as 

amended, contain detailed provisions for the capital finance and accounting controls, 
including the rules on the use of capital receipts and what is to be treated as capital 
expenditure. They modify accounting practice in various ways to prevent adverse 
impacts on authorities’ revenue resources. 

 
2.2      As well as the legislation, the Council manages its Treasury Management and Capital 

activities in accordance with the following associated guidance: - 

• CIPFA’s Treasury Management in the Public Services: Code of Practice  

• CIPFA’s The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities  

• Welsh Government (WG) revised Guidance on Local Authority Investments 
 

2.3 The Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities requires Local 
Authorities to have in place a Capital Strategy which demonstrates that the Authority 
takes capital expenditure and investment decisions in line with service objectives and 
properly takes account of stewardship, value for money, prudence, sustainability, and 
affordability. To demonstrate that the Council has fulfilled these objectives, the 
Prudential Code sets out a number of Indicators that must be set and monitored each 
year. The Council’s Capital Strategy 2025-26, incorporating the Prudential Indicators 
for 2025-26, was approved by Council on 26 February 2025.     

 
2.4 On 26 February 2025 Council approved a capital budget of £124.863 million for 2025-

26 as part of a capital programme covering the period 2025-26 to 2034-35. The 
programme was last updated and approved by Council on 23 July 2025 with a revised 
budget of £156.643 million.  

 
3. Current situation / proposal 
 
3.1 Capital Programme Quarter 2 Update 2025-26 
 
3.1.1 This section of the report provides Members with an update on the Council’s capital 

programme for 2025-26 since the budget was last approved by Council and 
incorporates any new schemes and grant approvals. The revised programme for 
2025-26 currently totals £78.247 million, of which £39.837 million is met from 
Bridgend County Borough Council (BCBC) resources, including capital receipts, 
revenue contributions from earmarked reserves and borrowing, with the remaining 
£38.410 million coming from external resources, including Welsh Government 
General Capital Grant. Table 1 below shows the capital programme for each 
Directorate from the July 2025 approved Council position to Quarter 2: 
 

Page 46



 

Table 1 – Capital Programme per Directorate 2025-26 
 

Directorate 

 
 

Approved 
Council  

 
 

New 
Approvals/ 

(Reductions)  
Virements 

Slippage to 
future years 

Revised 
Budget 
2025-26 

July 2025 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Education, 
Early Years 
and Young 
People 
(EEYYP) 

99,426 2,530 - (78,414) 23,542 

Social 
Services and 
Wellbeing 

961 75 - - 1,036 

Communities 48,616 3,201 - (6,101) 45,716 

Chief 
Executive’s  

5,151 313 500 - 5,964 

Council Wide 2,489 - (500) - 1,989 

Total 156,643 6,119 - (84,515) 78,247 

   
3.1.2 Table 2 below summarises the current funding assumptions for the capital 

programme for 2025-26. The capital resources are managed to ensure that maximum 
financial benefit for the Council is achieved. This may include the realignment of 
funding to maximise government grants. 

  
Table 2 – Capital Programme 2025-26 Resources 

 

CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 
£’000 

   

BCBC Resources:  

Capital Receipts 11,994 

Earmarked Reserves 13,281 

Unsupported Borrowing 7,035 

Supported Borrowing 3,810 

Other Loans 3,385 

Revenue Contribution 332 

Total BCBC Resources 39,837 

External Resources:  

S106 1,770 

Grants 36,640 

Total External Resources 38,410 

TOTAL RESOURCES 78,247 

 

Page 47



 

3.1.3 Appendix A provides details of the individual schemes within the capital programme, 
 showing the budget available in 2025-26 compared to the projected year end spend 
at 30 September 2025. There are currently no projected under or over spends on any 
of the schemes at year end. 

 
3.1.4 A number of schemes have been identified as requiring slippage of budget to future 

years (2026-27 and beyond).  
 
 Highways/Other Offsite Works Sustainable Communities for Learning Band B 

Schools (£0.900 million) 
 The highways budget in relation to Band B schemes will be expended once works 

have been designed and commissioned. It is anticipated that the majority of costs will 
be incurred in future years and therefore £0.900 million has been slipped to 2026-27. 

 
 Heronsbridge Replacement (£37.921 million) 
 Subsequent to Welsh Government’s approval of the revised Outline Business Case 

and Council’s approval of the additional BCBC funding required to deliver the 
scheme, Cabinet approval was received to tender the project via the South East and 
Mid Wales Collaborative Construction Framework. The tender process concluded, 
and Cabinet approval was received to appoint Keir Construction under a professional 
services contract to complete the design of the school. This work has commenced, 
and good progress is being made. £37.921 million has been slipped to 2026-27 in 
order to progress the project, and subject to obtaining the necessary Cabinet and 
Welsh Government approvals, construct the school. 

 
 Mynydd Cynffig Replacement (£13.163 million) 
 Officers are awaiting the outcome of the planning application for the scheme. The 

tender process will begin once planning approval has been received and construction 
will follow. Therefore, £13.163 million has been slipped to 2026-27. 

  
 Ysgol Gymraeg Bro Ogwr Replacement (£14.430 million) 
 Ecology issues at the Ffordd Cadfan site have impacted on the timeline for delivery 

of the school. An ecology mitigation strategy has been agreed, and the project will 
progress through the next stages of development. As a result of the delay, Cabinet 
approval has been received to modify the school opening date to September 2027. 
and £14.430 million has been slipped to 2026-27. 

 
 Bridgend West (£12.000 million) 
 Cabinet approvals granted on 24 June 2025 in respect of the scheme were subject 

to obtaining planning and Welsh Government approvals, including Welsh 
Government award of grant funding. The planning decision in respect of the Cornelly 
site, which had originally been anticipated for June 2025, was ultimately issued on 21 
August 2025 (since a further consultation was required on school transport entrance 
arrangements). While the local authority received Welsh Government approval and 
confirmation of funding on 3 July 2025, it was not possible to award the construction 
at that time, since planning approval was not in place. The contractor’s programme 
that was submitted as part of the tender process anticipated a start on site date of the 
first week in August 2025. An August 2025 start date has not been possible due to 
the planning decision delay. Consequently, it is necessary to slip £12.000 million to 
2026-27. 

 
  

Page 48



 

Waste Vehicles (£3.000 million) 
 Orders for replacement refuse and recycling vehicles will be placed in the coming 

weeks. Due to the long lead times for these specialised vehicles, it is anticipated that 
delivery will take place in Summer 2026. Therefore, £3.000 million has been slipped 
forward to 2026/27 to fund the new vehicles. 

 
 Waterton Upgrade (£3.101 million) 
 Works have begun on the replacement salt barn at Waterton depot, with works on 

the vehicle wash facility and refuelling provision expected to commence in 2026-27. 
The spend on the salt barn in 2025-26 is estimated to be £0.490 million, therefore 
£3.101 million has been slipped to 2026-27.  

 
3.1.5 There are a number of amendments to the capital programme for 2025-26, such as 

new and amended schemes, since the capital programme was last approved, 
including: 

 
 Heronsbridge Replacement (£0.133 million) 
 Included in the design stage for the Heronsbridge Replacement scheme is a 

replacement for the Harwood House residential provision, which is currently located 
on the existing Heronsbridge site. The Housing with Care Fund has approved funding 
of £0.133 million for the design and related survey works for the new Harwood House 
and, following completion of these works, a full business justification case and capital 
bid will be submitted to the regional Housing with Care Fund for Stage 2 – the 
construction phase. 

 
 School Maintenance Grant (£0.030 million) 
 Welsh Government have approved an application for Salix loan funding for the 

installation of solar PV on the sports hall roof at Porthcawl Comprehensive, providing 
a significant reduction in energy costs for the school. The solar PV will be installed as 
part of the roof replacement scheme currently being funded from the School 
Maintenance Grant and will be repaid by the school over 4 years. 

  
 Community Focused Schools (£0.910 million) 
 Welsh Government have awarded the Council £0.910 million from the Sustainable 

Communities for Learning Community Focused Schools Grant for 2025-26. The 
funding will be used to support the use of education assets out of normal school hours 
and will enable schools to build strong partnerships with families, engage with the 
wider community and collaborate effectively with other sectors and services.  

 
 Additional Learning Needs Grant (ALN) (£0.908 million) 
 Welsh Government have awarded the Council £0.908 million from the Additional 

Learning Needs Grant for 2025-26. The purpose of the grant is to optimise learning 
environments for disabled children and young people, and those with additional 
learning needs, to increase accessibility, promote inclusive practice, support learning 
and pupil wellbeing. This will support the objectives of ALNET (Additional Learning 
Needs and Education Tribunal) and ALN reform, to create a unified bilingual system 
for supporting children and young people from 0 to 25 with ALN, and the delivery of 
the Curriculum for Wales in school settings. 
 
 
 
 

Page 49



 

Flying Start Extension – Nantymoel (£0.065 million) 
 Following the submission of a funding variation request, Welsh Government have 

awarded the Council an additional £0.065 million from the Childcare and Early Years 
Capital grant to fund the additional costs of the Flying Start facility in Nantymoel. 

 
 Bryntirion Comprehensive 3G Pitch (£0.540 million) 
 On 22 July 2025, Cabinet approved the upgrading of Bryntirion Comprehensive’s 

existing 2G pitch to a 3G pitch, benefiting both the school and wider community. 
BCBC will enter into a management agreement with the school for the ongoing 
management and maintenance of the facility, ensuring it supports our communities 
and the wellbeing of future generations. The Council have been awarded £0.400 
million from Cymru Football Foundation and £0.140 million from Sport Wales for this 
project. A further £0.200 million has been allocated to the project from the Community 
Focused Schools grant detailed above, and is shown as a virement in Appendix A 
and B. 

 
 Brackla Sports Centre (£0.075 million) 
 Sport Wales have awarded the Council £0.065 million to replace 2 smaller 

tarmacadam hard court areas at Brackla Sports Centre with a 2G multi-purpose multi-
use games area which can be accessed by the community, local clubs and 
organisations. It is also planned to upgrade the existing 8 x 1 kw metal halide 
floodlights with 8 x 500w LED floodlights to increase the lighting level to 150 lux and 
provide significant energy savings. A revenue contribution from Wellbeing and 
Prevention will fund the remaining £0.010 million.  

 
 Bridgend Bus Station (£0.186 million) 
 Welsh Government have awarded the Council £0.186 million from the Local 

Transport Grant to replace the electronic bus information displays at Bridgend bus 
station. The existing information displays have been non-operational for a number of 
years, with original providers not willing / able to maintain the ageing systems. The 
replacement information displays will assist users of the County Borough’s bus 
services and can provide data relevant to rail services, encouraging use of integrated 
public transport services. 

 
 Decarbonisation 2030 (£0.015 million) 
 Coleg Cymunedol Y Dderwen currently operates two all-weather pitches equipped 

with 36 halogen floodlights and these facilities are used extensively by both the school 
and the wider community. The halogen bulbs are inefficient and have a relatively short 
life, which is beginning to limit the times the pitches are available for school and 
community use. A revenue contribution from the school of £0.015 million is being 
added to the Decarbonisation 2030 budget to part fund the £0.030 million installation 
of energy efficient LED bulbs, which will reduce maintenance and energy costs at the 
school.  

  
Grand Pavilion (£1.500 million) 

  The Arts Council for Wales awarded the Council £1.500 million to support the 
redevelopment of the Grand Pavilion, Porthcawl. This additional funding will allow 
officers to instruct works within Package C, which will include Furniture, Fixtures, and 
Equipment (FF&E). 

 
  
 

Page 50



 

Pride in Place Impact Fund (£1.500 million) 
 The Council have been awarded a total of £3.000 million from the Ministry of Housing, 

Communities & Local Government’s Pride in Place Impact Fund, with £1.500 million 
allocated for 2025-26 and 2026-27. The funding has been made available to improve 
community spaces, to enhance the physical environment in public spaces and to 
revitalise high streets and town centres to encourage economic activity. 

 
 Empty Property Enforcement Fund (£0.175 million) 
 Following Cabinet approval on 22 October 2024, officers have accessed Welsh 

Government’s Transforming Towns Empty Property Enforcement Fund by entering 
into loan agreements with Rhondda Cynon Taf County Borough Council, who are the 
Authority responsible for the management of the enforcement fund. The Council will 
access a loan of £0.075 million to undertake enforcement action on one long term 
empty property to bring it back into beneficial use. A second loan of £0.100 million 
will be accessible to members of the Council’s Empty Homes Working Group for 
tackling problematic long term empty properties across the borough, with a maximum 
spend at each property of £0.030 million. 

 
 Digital Transformation (£0.500 million) 
 £0.500 million is required for the Digital Transformation scheme, which will enable 

the Council to continue to renew and upgrade its ICT and communication hardware. 
The budget will be vired from the unallocated budget within the capital programme. 

   
 Hwb Schools IT (0.167 million) 
  £0.167 million has been added to Hwb Schools IT in relation to a range of planned 

ICT purchases in 2025-26.  These will be funded from an existing earmarked reserve 
established for the purchase of ICT equipment by schools from their annual ICT SLA 
contributions. 

  
In addition to the above schemes, two schemes have been removed from the capital 
programme. These are shown as negative approvals: 

 
 Pencoed School Highways Works (£0.056 million) 
 Following the removal of the Pencoed Primary Classroom Extension scheme, 

highway improvements are no longer required at the site. Therefore £0.056 million 
has been removed from the capital programme.  

 
 Replacement CCTV (£0.029 million) 
 The works on replacing and upgrading CCTV is now complete, and the remaining 

budget of £0.029 million has been removed from the capital programme. 
     
3.1.6 A revised Capital Programme is included as Appendix B. 
 
3.2 Prudential and Other Indicators 2025-26 Monitoring 
 

3.2.1 The Capital Strategy is intended to give an overview of how capital expenditure; 
capital financing and treasury management activity contribute to the provision of 
services along with an overview of how associated risk is managed and the 
implications for future sustainability. To this end a number of prudential indicators 
were included in the Capital Strategy which was approved by Council in February 
2025. In line with the requirements of the Prudential Code, the Chief Finance Officer 

Page 51



 

is required to establish procedures to monitor both performance against all forward-
looking prudential indicators and the requirement specified. 

 
3.2.2 In February 2025, Council approved the Capital Strategy for 2025-26, which included 

the Prudential Indicators for 2025-26. 
 
3.2.3 Appendix C details the actual indicators for 2024-25, the estimated indicators for 

2025-26 set out in the Council’s Capital Strategy and the projected indicators for 
2025-26 based on the revised Capital Programme. These show that the Council is 
operating in line with the approved indicators.  
 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty, 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services, and functions. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in Wales, with 

five ways of working to guide how public services should work to deliver for people. 
The well-being objectives are designed to complement each other and are part of an 
integrated way of working to improve well-being for the people of Bridgend. It is 
considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon the 
achievement of the well-being goals or objectives as a result of this report. 

 
6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 These are reflected within the report where relevant to specific schemes.  
 
7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 There are no safeguarding and corporate parent implications arising from this 

report.  
 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 These are reflected within the report. 
 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Council: 
 

• notes the Council’s Capital Programme 2025-26 Quarter 2 update to 30 

September 2025 (Appendix A)   

• notes the slippage of £84.515 million to 2026-27 as detailed in Appendix B. 

• approves the virements between schemes as detailed in Appendix B. 

Page 52



 

• approves the new additions/reductions to the capital programme in 2025-26 

totalling £6.119 million as outlined in Appendix B. 

• notes the actual Prudential and Other Indicators for 2024-25 and the projected 

indicators for 2025-26 (Appendix C). 

 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



Bridgend County Borough Council APPENDIX A

CAPITAL MONITORING REPORT QUARTER 2 TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025

Budget 25-26 

(Council July 

25)

New Approvals 

and Adjustments

Virement Slipped (to)/ 

from Future 

Years

Revised 

Budget        

2025-26

Total 

Expenditure to 

Date

Projected 

Spend

Over / (Under) 

Spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education, Early Years and Young People

1 HIGHWAYS SCHEMES BAND B SCHOOL 1,000                -                       -                   (900)                     100                   7                       100                 -                    -                  

2 HERONSBRIDGE REPLACEMENT 39,521             133                       -                   (37,921)                1,733                18                     1,733              -                    -                  

3 MYNYDD CYNFFIG REPLACEMENT 13,390              -                       -                   (13,163)                227                   35                     227                 -                    -                  

4 Y G BRO OGWR REPLACEMENT 15,155              -                       -                   (14,430)                725                   59                     725                 -                    -                  

5 BRIDGEND WEST 14,976              -                       -                   (12,000)                2,976                168                   2,976              -                    -                  

6 YSGOL GYFYN GYMRAEG LLANGYNWYD 94                     -                       -                    -                      94                     2                       94                   -                    -                  

7 LAND PURCHASE BAND B SCHOOLS 2,026                -                       -                    -                      2,026                 -                   2,026              -                    -                  

8 GARW VALLEY SOUTH PRIMARY PROVISION 61                     -                       -                    -                      61                     (4)                      61                   -                    -                  

9 PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL BAND A 51                     -                       -                    -                      51                      -                   51                   -                    -                  

10 PENCOED PRIMARY SCHOOL HIGHWAYS WORKS 56                    (56)                        -                    -                      -                     -                    -                 -                    -                  

11 ABERCERDIN PRIMARY HUB 276                   -                       -                    -                      276                   3                       276                 -                    -                  

12 BRYNTEG COMPREHENSIVE ALL WEATHER PITCH 26                     -                       -                    -                      26                     5                       26                   -                    -                  

13 EEYYP MINOR WORKS 567                   -                       -                    -                      567                   393                   567                 -                    -                  

14 SCHOOLS TRAFFIC SAFETY 50                     -                       -                    -                      50                      -                   50                   -                    -                  

15 SCHOOL MODERNISATION 333                   -                       -                    -                      333                    -                   333                 -                    -                  

17 COETY PRIMARY SCHOOL EXTENSION 2,476                -                       -                    -                      2,476                78                     2,476              -                    -                  

18 BRYNTIRION COMPREHENSIVE NEW CLASSROOMS 695                   -                       -                    -                      695                   651                   695                 -                    -                  

19 BRYNTIRION COMP HIGHWAYS 66                     -                       -                    -                      66                     (3)                      66                   -                    -                  

20 SCHOOLS CAPITAL MAINTENANCE GRANT 4,150               30                         -                    -                      4,180                946                   4,180              -                    -                  

21 WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - BRIDGEND 550                   -                       -                    -                      550                    -                   550                 -                    -                  

22 WELSH MEDIUM GRANT - PORTHCAWL 550                   -                       -                    -                      550                    -                   550                 -                    -                  

23 FREE SCHOOL MEALS 575                   -                       -                    -                      575                   353                   575                 -                    -                  

24 COMMUNITY FOCUSED SCHOOLS 953                  910                      (200)                   -                      1,663                145                   1,663              -                    -                  

25 ALN CAPITAL GRANT 672                  908                       -                    -                      1,580                45                     1,580              -                    -                  

26 YSGOL GYMRAEG BRO OGWR MOBILE CLASSROOMS 436                   -                       -                    -                      436                   267                   436                 -                    -                  

27 PORTHCAWL WELSH MEDIUM SEEDLING SCHOOL 181                   -                       -                    -                      181                   120                   181                 -                    -                  

28 FLYING START EXTENSION - NANTYMOEL PRIMARY 504                  65                         -                    -                      569                   7                       569                 -                    -                  

29 FLYING START HIGHWAYS 36                     -                       -                    -                      36                      -                   36                   -                    -                  

30 BRYNTIRION COMPREHENSIVE 3G PITCH  -                  540                      200                    -                      740                    -                   740                

TOTAL Education, Early Years and Young People 99,426             2,530                    -                   (78,414)                23,542              3,295                23,542            -                    -                  

Social Services and Wellbeing

31 BRYN Y CAE - UPGRADE HFE'S 40                     -                       -                    -                      40                      -                   40                   -                    -                  

32 TY CWM OGWR 23                     -                       -                    -                      23                      -                   23                   -                    -                  

33 WELLBEING MINOR WORKS 242                   -                       -                    -                      242                   53                     242                 -                    -                  

34 BAKERS WAY MINOR WORKS 10                     -                       -                    -                      10                      -                   10                   -                    -                  

35 CHILDRENS RESIDENTIAL HUB 18                     -                       -                    -                      18                     4                       18                   -                    -                  

36 COMMUNITY CENTRES 117                   -                       -                    -                      117                   (15)                    117                 -                    -                  

P
age 55



Budget 25-26 

(Council July 

25)

New Approvals 

and Adjustments

Virement Slipped (to)/ 

from Future 

Years

Revised 

Budget        

2025-26

Total 

Expenditure to 

Date

Projected 

Spend

Over / (Under) 

Spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

37 BRYNGARW HOUSE 8                       -                       -                    -                      8                        -                   8                     -                    -                  

38 ALL WALES PLAY OPPORTUNITIES 231                   -                       -                    -                      231                    -                   231                 -                    -                  

39 BRIDGEND LIFE CENTRE 272                   -                       -                    -                      272                    -                   272                 -                   

40 BRACKLA SPORTS CENTRE  -                  75                         -                    -                      75                      -                   75                  

TOTAL Social Services & Wellbeing 961                  75                         -                    -                      1,036                42                     1,036              -                    -                  

Communities

Street Scene
41 COMMUNITY PLAY AREAS 2,361                -                       -                    -                      2,361                38                     2,361              -                    -                  

42 PARKS/PAVILIONS/OTHER COMMUNITY ASSET TRANSFERS 1,054                -                       -                    -                      1,054                24                     1,054              -                    -                  

43 ABERFIELDS PLAYFIELDS 11                     -                       -                    -                      11                      -                   11                   -                    -                  

44 CITY DEAL 175                   -                       -                    -                      175                    -                   175                 -                    -                  

45 COYCHURCH CREM WORKS 22                     -                       -                    -                      22                      -                   22                   -                    -                  

46 REMEDIAL MEASURES - CAR PARKS 135                   -                       -                    -                      135                    -                   135                 -                    -                  

47 CIVIL PARKING ENFORCEMENT CAR 54                     -                       -                    -                      54                      -                   54                   -                    -                  

48 20 MPH DEFAULT SPEED 209                   -                       -                    -                      209                   6                       209                 -                    -                  

49 ROAD SAFETY SCHEMES 3                       -                       -                    -                      3                       (2)                      3                     -                    -                  

50 HIGHWAYS STRUCTURAL WORKS 394                   -                       -                    -                      394                   92                     394                 -                    -                  

51 CARRIAGEWAY CAPITAL WORKS 302                   -                       -                    -                      302                   149                   302                 -                    -                  

52 PROW CAPITAL IMPROVEMENT STRUCTURES 50                     -                       -                    -                      50                     18                     50                   -                    -                  

53 HIGHWAYS REFURBISHMENT 1,014                -                       -                    -                      1,014                477                   1,014              -                    -                  

54 REPLACEMENT OF STREET LIGHTING 519                   -                       -                    -                      519                   55                     519                 -                    -                  

55 RIVER BRIDGE PROTECTION MEASURES 22                     -                       -                    -                      22                      -                   22                   -                    -                  

56 COMMUNITIES MINOR WORKS 582                   -                       -                    -                      582                   22                     582                 -                    -                  

57 ULEV TRANSFORMATION FUND 2 111                   -                       -                    -                      111                    -                   111                 -                    -                  

58 FLEET TRANSITION-ULEV 54                     -                       -                    -                      54                     21                     54                   -                    -                  

59 NET ZERO CARBON FLEET 147                   -                       -                    -                      147                    -                   147                 -                    -                  

60 PORTHCAWL METRO LINK (CCR) 19                     -                       -                    -                      19                     (50)                    19                   -                    -                  

61 RESIDENTS PARKING BRIDGEND TOWN CENTRE 109                   -                       -                    -                      109                    -                   109                 -                    -                  

62 FLEET VEHICLES 1,971                -                       -                    -                      1,971                435                   1,971              -                    -                  

63 CEMETERIES 314                   -                       -                    -                      314                   2                       314                 -                    -                  

64 S106 HIGHWAYS SMALL SCHEMES 35                     -                       -                    -                      35                     1                       35                   -                    -                  

65 ROAD SAFETY IMPROVEMENTS 67                     -                       -                    -                      67                     (9)                      67                   -                    -                  

66 COAL TIP SAFETY 1,795                -                       -                    -                      1,795                65                     1,795              -                    -                  

67 GRASS CUTTING EQUIPMENT 101                   -                       -                    -                      101                   30                     101                 -                    -                  

68 WASTE VEHICLES 3,000                -                       -                   (3,000)                   -                    -                    -                 -                    -                  

69 HIGHWAYS MAINTENANCE LGBI 2,908                -                       -                    -                      2,908                861                   2,908              -                    -                  

70 RESILIENT ROADS 494                   -                       -                    -                      494                    -                   494                 -                    -                  

71 BRIDGEND BUS STATION  -                  186                       -                    -                      186                    -                   186                 -                    -                  

TOTAL Streetscene 18,032             186                       -                   (3,000)                  15,218              2,235                15,218            -                    -                  

P
age 56



Budget 25-26 

(Council July 

25)

New Approvals 

and Adjustments

Virement Slipped (to)/ 

from Future 

Years

Revised 

Budget        

2025-26

Total 

Expenditure to 

Date

Projected 

Spend

Over / (Under) 

Spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Regeneration & Development

72 EU CONVERGANCE SRF BUDGET     436                   -                       -                    -                      436                   18                     436                 -                    -                  

73 PORTHCAWL REGENERATION PROJECT 2,827                -                       -                    -                      2,827                153                   2,827              -                    -                  

74 ECONOMIC STIMULUS GRANT 315                   -                       -                    -                      315                   61                     315                 -                    -                  

75 COASTAL RISK MANAGEMENT PROGRAM 184                   -                       -                    -                      184                   19                     184                 -                    -                  

76 EWENNY ROAD INDUSTRIAL ESTATE 3,485                -                       -                    -                      3,485                2,696                3,485              -                    -                  

77 CESP/ARBED PHASE 1             2,123                -                       -                    -                      2,123                50                     2,123              -                    -                  

78 BRIDGEND HEAT SCHEME 3,265                -                       -                    -                      3,265                 -                   3,265              -                    -                  

79 MAESTEG TOWN HALL CULTURAL HUB 61                     -                       -                    -                      61                     (118)                  61                   -                    -                  

80 TOWN & COMMUNITY COUNCIL FUND 183                   -                       -                    -                      183                   8                       183                 -                    -                  

81 PORTHCAWL TOWNSCAPE HERITAGE INITIATIVE 89                     -                       -                    -                      89                      -                   89                   -                    -                  

82 COMMERCIAL PROPERTY ENHANCEMENT FUND    134                   -                       -                    -                      134                    -                   134                 -                    -                  

83 URBAN CENTRE PROPERTY ENHANCE 650                   -                       -                    -                      650                    -                   650                 -                    -                  

84 2030 DECARBONISATION          589                  15  -                    -                      604                   205                   604                 -                    -                  

85 SHARED PROSPERITY FRAMEWORK   3,077                -                       -                    -                      3,077                1,193                3,077              -                    -                  

86 LOCAL PLACES FOR NATURE 367                   -                       -                    -                      367                   12                     367                 -                    -                  

87 PORTHCAWL GRAND PAVILION 6,392               1,500                    -                    -                      7,892                555                   7,892              -                    -                  

88 PRIDE IN PLACE IMPACT FUND  -                  1,500                    -                    -                      1,500                 -                   1,500              -                    -                  

TOTAL Regeneration & Development 24,177             3,015                   -                    -                       27,192              4,852                27,192           -                    -                   

Corporate Landlord

89 DDA WORKS 198                   -                       -                    -                      198                    -                   198                 -                    -                  

90 MINOR WORKS 2,192                -                       -                    -                      2,192                8                       2,192              -                    -                  

91 FIRE PRECAUTIONS MINOR WORKS 107                   -                       -                    -                      107                   36                     107                 -                    -                  

92 BRYNCETHIN DEPOT FACILITIES 272                   -                       -                    -                      272                   3                       272                 -                    -                  

93 WATERTON UPGRADE 3,591                -                       -                   (3,101)                  490                   6                       490                 -                    -                  

94 INVESTING IN COMMUNITIES 47                     -                       -                    -                      47                      -                   47                   -                    -                  

TOTAL Corporate Landlord 6,407                -                       -                   (3,101)                  3,306                53                     3,306              -                    -                  

TOTAL Communities 48,616             3,201                    -                   (6,101)                  45,716              7,140                45,716            -                    -                  

Chief Executive

95 MANDATORY DFG RELATED EXPEND 1,750                -                       -                    -                      1,750                924                   1,750              -                    -                  

96 DISCRETIONARY HOUSING GRANTS 200                   -                       -                    -                      200                   6                       200                 -                    -                  

97 HOUSING RENEWAL AREA 100                   -                       -                    -                      100                   20                     100                 -                    -                  

98 ENABLE GRANT 382                   -                       -                    -                      382                   138                   382                 -                    -                  

99 HOMELESSNESS AND HOUSING 530                   -                       -                    -                      530                    -                   530                 -                    -                  

100 HEALTH & WELLBEING VILLAGE 480                   -                       -                    -                      480                    -                   480                 -                    -                  

101 AFFORDABLE HOUSING 802                   -                       -                    -                      802                   353                   802                 -                    -                  

102 ENFORCEMENT FUND 1 250                   -                       -                    -                      250                    -                   250                 -                    -                  

103 ENFORCEMENT FUND 2 22                     -                       -                    -                      22                      -                   22                   -                    -                  

104 ENFORCEMENT FUND 3  -                  75                         -                    -                      75                      -                   75                   -                    -                  

105 MULTI PROJECT ENFORCEMENT FUND  -                  100                       -                    -                      100                    -                   100                 -                    -                  

P
age 57



Budget 25-26 

(Council July 

25)

New Approvals 

and Adjustments

Virement Slipped (to)/ 

from Future 

Years

Revised 

Budget        

2025-26

Total 

Expenditure to 

Date

Projected 

Spend

Over / (Under) 

Spend

Impact on 

BCBC 

Resources

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

TOTAL Housing/Homelessness 4,516               175                       -                    -                      4,691                1,441                4,691              -                    -                  

106 ICT INFRA SUPPORT 452                   -                       -                    -                      452                   40                     452                 -                    -                  

107 DIGITAL TRANSFORMATION 97                     -                      500                    -                      597                    -                   597                 -                    -                  

108 CCTV SYSTEMS REPLACEMENT 29                    (29)                        -                    -                       -                    -                    -                 -                    -                  

109 ICT DATA CENTRE REPLACEMENT 39                     -                       -                    -                      39                      -                   39                   -                    -                  

110 HWB SCHOOLS IT 18                    167                       -                    -                      185                   76                     185                 -                    -                  

TOTAL ICT 635                  138                      500                    -                      1,273                116                   1,273              -                    -                  

TOTAL Chief Executive 5,151               313                      500                    -                      5,964                1,557                5,964              -                    -                  

Council Wide Capital Budgets 

111 CORPORATE CAPITAL FUND 773                   -                       -                    -                      773                    -                   773                 -                    -                  

112 UNALLOCATED 1,716                -                      (500)                   -                      1,216                 -                   1,216              -                    -                  

2,489                -                      (500)                   -                      1,989                 -                   1,989              -                    -                  

 -                -                (84,515)            78,247           12,034           78,247          -                GRAND TOTAL 156,643         6,119                

P
age 58



CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2025-2035 APPENDIX B

CUMULATIVE

Date 

Approved Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council                                            

July 25  

2025-26

New 

Approvals / 

Reductions Virement

Slipped 

(to)/from 

Future Years Revised 2025-26 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034 2034-2035 Total 2024 - 2035

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

1 Highways / Other Offsite Works Band B Schools 20/21 3,392           3,392           -           1,000         (900)               100                        3,292 3,392                  

2 Heronsbridge Replacement   22/23 40,459         13,705        26,754      39,521       133                 (37,921)          1,733                     19,000 19,726 40,459                

3 Mynydd Cynffig Replacement  22/23 13,680         5,575          8,105        13,390       (13,163)          227                        7,828 5,625 13,680                

4 Y G Bro Ogwr Replacement      22/23 15,497         3,406          12,091      15,155       (14,430)          725                        6,291 8,481 15,497                

5 Bridgend West 22/23 42,647         12,598        30,049      14,976       (12,000)          2,976                     37,285 2,386 42,647                

6 Ysgol Gyfun Gymraeg Llangynwyd 21/22 94                94                -           94              94                          94                       

7 Land Purchase Band B 21/22 2,026           2,026           -           2,026         2,026                     2,026                  

8 Garw Valley South Primary Provision 14/15 61                61                -           61              61                          61                       

9 Pencoed Primary School - Band A 14/15 51                51                -           51              51                          51                       

10 Pencoed School Highways Works 16/17  -               -              -           56              (56)                   -                         -                     

11 Abercerdin Primary School Hub 21/22 276              276              -           276            276                        276                     

12 Brynteg Comprehensive School All Weather Pitch 21/22 26                26                -           26              26                          26                       

13 Schools Minor Works RECURRENT 567              556             11             567            567                        567                     

14 Schools Traffic Safety 16/17 50                50                -           50              50                          50                       

15 School Modernisation 14/15 333              333              -           333            333                        333                     

16 Pencoed Primary School - Classroom Extension 22/23  -               -              -                          -                         -                     

17 Coety Primary School - Extension 22/23 2,476           2,148          328           2,476         2,476                     2,476                  

18 Bryntirion Comprehensive New Classrooms 22/23 695              171             524           695            695                        695                     

19 Bryntirion Comprehensive School Highways 23/24 66                66                -           66              66                          66                       

20 School's Capital Maintenance Grant 19/20 4,180           3,059          1,121        4,150         30                   4,180                     4,180                  

21 Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Bridgend 19/20 550               -             550           550            550                        550                     

22 Welsh Medium Childcare Provision - Porthcawl 19/20 550               -             550           550            550                        550                     

23 Free School Meals 22/23 575              228             347           575            575                        575                     

24 Community Focused Schools 22/23 1,663           953             710           953            910                 (200)              1,663                     1,663                  

25 ALN Capital Grant 22/23 1,580           672             908           672            908                 1,580                     1,580                  

26 Y G Bro Ogwr Mobile Classrooms 22/23 436               -             436           436            436                        436                     

27 Porthcawl Welsh Medium Seedling School 22/23 181              181             181            181                        181                     

28 Flying Start Extension - Nantymoel Primary 23/24 569               -             569           504            65                   569                        569                     

29 Flying Start Highways 24/25 36                22               14             36              36                          36                       

30 Bryntirion Comprehensive 3G Pitch 25/26 740               -             740           540                 200               740                        740                     

133,456       49,649        83,807      99,426       2,530               -               (78,414)          23,542                   73,696     36,218      -           -           -           -           -           -           -          133,456              

31 Bryn Y Cae 19/20 40                40               40              40                          40                       

32 Ty Cwm Ogwr Care Home 21/22 23                23               23              23                          23                       

33 Wellbeing Minor Works RECURRENT 242              242             242            242                        242                     

34 Bakers Way 17/18 10                10                -           10              10                          10                       

35 Children's Residential Accommodation Hub 18/19 18                18                -           18              18                          18                       

               -                        

36 Community Centres 20/21 117              117             117            117                        117                     

37 Bryngarw House 20/21 8                  8                 8                8                            8                         

38 All Wales Play Opportunities 25/26 231              231           231            231                        231                     

39 Bridgend Life Centre 25/26 272              32               240           272            272                        272                     

40 Brackla Sports Centre 25/26 75                10               65             75                   75                          75                       

1,036           500             536           961            75                    -                -                1,036                      -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -          1,036                  

41 Community Children's Play Areas 20/21 2,361           2,361           -           2,361 2,361                     2,361                  

42 Parks/Pavilions/Community Centres CAT 14/15 1,054           887             167           1,054         1,054                     1,054                  

43 Aber Playing Fields 19/20 11                11                -           11              11                          11                       

44 Cardiff Capital Region City Deal 17/18 7,691           7,691           -           175            175                        471          690          3,689       2,666                   7,691                  

45 Coychurch Crem Works RECURRENT 22                 -             22             22              22                          22                       

46 Remedial Measures - Car Parks 17/18 135              135              -           135            135                        135                     

47 Civil Parking Enforcement 17/18 54                54                -           54              54                          54                       

48 Road Signs 20mph Default Speed 22/23 209               -             209           209            209                        209                     

49 Road Safety 14/15 3                  3                  -           3                3                            3                         

50 Highways Structural Works RECURRENT 3,454           3,454           -           394            394                        340          340          340          340          340          340          340          340          340          3,454                  

51 Carriageway Capital Works RECURRENT 2,552           2,552           -           302            302                        250          250          250          250          250          250          250          250          250          2,552                  

52 Prow Capital Improvement Programme 15/16 116              116           50              50                          66            116                     

53 Highways Refurbishment 19/20 1,014           1,014           -           1,014         1,014                                 1,014                  

54 Replacement of Street Lighting Columns/ River Bridge Protection Measures RECURRENT 4,119           4,119           -           519            519                        400          400          400          400          400          400          400          400          400          4,119                  

55 River Bridge Protection Measures 16/17 22                22                -           22              22                          22                       

56 Communities Minor Works RECURRENT 582              582              -           582            582                        582                     

57 Ultra Low Emissions Vehicle Transformation Fund 2 22/23 111               -             111           111            111                        111                     

58 Fleet Transition Ultra Low Emmissions Vehicles 21/22 54                 -             54             54              54                          54                       

59 Net Zero Carbon Fleet 21/22 147              147              -           147            147                        147                     

60 Porthcawl Metro-Link (CCR) 21/22 19                19               19              19                          19                       

61 Residents Parking Bridgend Town Centre 14/15 109              109              -           109            109                                                            109                     

Adult Social Care

Culture

Total Social Services and Well-being

Communities

Education, Early Years and Young People

Total Education, Early Years and Young People

Social Services and Well-being

FUTURE YEARS

Street Scene

Total 2025-2035 2025-26

P
age 59



CUMULATIVE

Date 

Approved Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council                                            

July 25  

2025-26

New 

Approvals / 

Reductions Virement

Slipped 

(to)/from 

Future Years Revised 2025-26 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034 2034-2035 Total 2024 - 2035

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education, Early Years and Young People

FUTURE YEARSTotal 2025-2035 2025-26

62 Fleet Vehicles 14/15 1,971           1,971           -           1,971         1,971                                                         1,971                  

63 Cemeteries 18/19 314              314              -           314            314                        314                     

64 S106 Highways Small Schemes 14/15 35                 -             35             35              35                                                              35                       

65 Unadopted Roads 14/15 67                67                -           67              67                          67                       

66 Coal Tip Safety 23/24 1,795           1,795        1,795         1,795                     1,795                  

67 Grass Cutting Equipment 24/25 101              101             101            101                        101                     

68 Waste Vehicles 24/25 8,000           8,000          3,000         (3,000)             -                        6,000       2,000       8,000                  

69 Highways Maintenance LGBI 25/26 4,847           4,847          2,908         2,908                     1,939       4,847                  

70 Resilient Roads 25/26 494              494           494            494                        494                     

71 Bridgend Bus Station 25/26 186              186           186                 186                        186                     

 -                         -                     

72 Special Regeneration Funding 17/18 436              436             436            436                        436                     

73 Porthcawl Regeneration 20/21 2,827           2,827           -           2,827         2,827                     2,827                  

74 Economic Stimulus Grant 19/20 315              315              -           315            315                        315                     

75 Coastal Risk Management Programme 20/21 184              184              -           184            184                        184                     

76 Ewenny Road Industrial Estate 21/22 3,485            -             3,485        3,485         3,485                     3,485                  

77 CESP/Arbed Phase 1 21/22 2,123           855             1,268        2,123         2,123                     2,123                  

78 Bridgend Heat Scheme 16/17 3,265           2,276          989           3,265         3,265                                                         3,265                  

79 Maesteg Town Hall Cultural Hub 17/18 61                38               23             61              61                          61                       

80 Town & Community Council Fund RECURRENT 633              633              -           183            183                        50            50            50            50            50            50            50            50            50            633                     

81 Porthcawl Townscape Heritage Initiative 14/15 89                89                -           89              89                                                              89                       

82 Commercial Property Enhancement Fund  21/22 134              134             134            134                        134                     

83 Urban Centre Property Enhancement 19/20 1,300           1,300        650            650                        650          1,300                  

84 2030 Decarbonisation RECURRENT 1,354           1,354 589            15                   604                        150          150          150          150          150          1,354                  

85 Shared Prosperity Fund 22/23 3,077           929 2,148 3,077         3,077                     3,077                  

86 Local Places for Nature 23/24 734              734 367            367                        367          734                     

87 Porthcawl Grand Pavilion 22/23 23,874         5,867          18,007      6,392         1,500 7,892                     14,782     1,200       23,874                

88 Pride In Place Impact Fund 25/26 3,000           3,000        1,500 1,500                     1,500       3,000                  

 -                        

89 DDA Works 14/15 198              198              -           198            198                        198                     

90 Minor Works Asset Management RECURRENT 12,362         12,362         -           2,192         2,192                     1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       1,130       12,362                

91 Fire Precautions 14/15 107              107              -           107            107                        107                     

92 Bryncethin Depot Facilities 14/15 272              272              -           272            272                        272                     

93 Waterton Upgrade 18/19 3,591           3,591           -           3,591         (3,101)            490                        3,101       3,591                  

94 Investing in Communities 19/20 47                47                -           47              47                          47                       

105,117       70,974        34,143      48,616       3,201               -               (6,101)            45,716                   31,196     6,210       6,009       4,986       2,320       2,170       2,170       2,170       2,170       105,117              

95 Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG) RECURRENT 22,000         22,000         -           1,750         1,750                     2,250       2,250       2,250       2,250       2,250       2,250       2,250       2,250       2,250       22,000                

96 Discretionary Housing Grants RECURRENT 2,000           2,000          200            200                        200          200          200          200          200          200          200          200          200          2,000                  

97 Housing Renewal / Empty Properties RECURRENT 1,000           1,000           -           100            100                        100          100          100          100          100          100          100          100          100          1,000                  

98 Enable Grant 25/26 382               -             382           382            382                                                            382                     

99 Homelessness and Housing 22/23 530              530           530            530                        530                     

100 Health and Wellbeing Village 21/22 480               -             480           480            480                        480                     

101 Affordable Housing 23/24 802              530             272           802            802                        802                     

102 Enforcement Fund 1 25/26 250              250             250            250                        250                     

103 Enforcement Fund 2 25/26 22                22               22              22                          22                       

104 Enforcement Fund 3 25/26 75                75               75                   75                          75                       

105 Multi Project Enforcement Fund 25/26 100              100             100                 100                        100                     

106 Investment in ICT RECURRENT 4,052           4,052           -           452            452                        400          400          400          400          400          400          400          400          400          4,052                  

107 Digital Transformation 22/23 597              597              -           97              500               597                                                            597                     

108 Replacement CCTV 21/22  -               -              -           29              (29)                   -                         -                     

109 ICT Datacentre Replacement 22/23 39                39               39              39                          39                       

110 HWB Schools IT 21/22 185              185              -           18              167                 185                        185                     

32,514         30,850        1,664        5,151         313                 500                -                5,964                     2,950       2,950       2,950       2,950       2,950       2,950       2,950       2,950       2,950       32,514                

111 Corporate Capital Fund RECURRENT 773              773             773            773                                                                                                                        773                     

112 Unallocated RECURRENT 27,856         27,856         -           1,716         (500)              1,216                     1,428       1,428       3,312       3,312       3,312       3,462       3,462       3,462       3,462       27,856                

28,629         28,629         -           2,489          -                 (500)               -                1,989                     1,428       1,428       3,312       3,312       3,312       3,462       3,462       3,462       3,462       28,629                

300,752       180,602      120,150    156,643     6,119               -               (84,515)          78,247                   109,270   46,806     12,271     11,248     8,582       8,582       8,582       8,582       8,582       300,752              

47,720         47,720         -           4,772         4,772                     4,772       4,772       4,772       4,772       4,772       4,772       4,772       4,772       4,772       47,720                

38,100         38,100         -           3,810         3,810                     3,810       3,810       3,810       3,810       3,810       3,810       3,810       3,810       3,810       38,100                

28,598         28,598         -           23,898       (56)                  (167)              (11,681)          11,994                   10,178     5,891       535          28,598                

35,411         35,411         -           26,700       138                 (13,557)          13,281                   8,469       7,841       3,154       2,666                   35,411                

332              332              -           307            25                   332                                                            332                     

3,956           3,956           -           3,956         3,956                                                         3,956                  

Total  Expenditure

Expected Capital Resources

General Capital Funding

General Capital Funding - General Capital Grant

Prudential Borrowing (Directorate Funded)

General Capital Funding - Supported Borrowing

Capital Receipts 

Earmarked Reserves

Revenue Contribution

ICT

Total Chief Executive's

Council Wide Capital Budgets

Housing / Homelessness

Total Council Wide Capital budgets

Regeneration & Development

Corporate Landlord  

Total Communities

Chief Executive's

P
age 60



CUMULATIVE

Date 

Approved Total Cost

BCBC 

Funding

External 

Funding

Council                                            

July 25  

2025-26

New 

Approvals / 

Reductions Virement

Slipped 

(to)/from 

Future Years Revised 2025-26 2026-2027 2027-2028 2028-2029 2029-2030 2030-2031 2031-2032 2032-2033 2033-2034 2034-2035 Total 2024 - 2035

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000

Education, Early Years and Young People

FUTURE YEARSTotal 2025-2035 2025-26

21,161         21,161         -           9,428         (6,349)            3,079                     15,954     2,128                   21,161                

4,847           4,847           -           2,908         2,908                     1,939                               4,847                  

447              447             272            175                 447                        447                     

30                30                             30                   30                                                              30                       

180,602       180,602       -           76,051       312                 (167)              (31,587)          44,609                   45,122 24,442 12,271 11,248 8,582 8,582 8,582 8,582 8,582 180,602              

10,346          -             10,346      7,194         2,069              9,263                     1,083                                                                   10,346                

74,346          -             74,346      53,960       (50,457)          3,503                     50,950     19,893                 74,346                

382               -             382           382            382                                                            382                     

480               -             480           480            480                                                            480                     

1,536            -             1,536        1,536         1,536                                                         1,536                  

 -               -              -                          -                         -                     

22,577          -             22,577      8,962         1,500              10,462                   12,115                             22,577                

133               -             133                         133                 133                                                                        133                     

4,241            -             4,241        4,241         (2,471)            1,770                                 2,471                   4,241                  

3,485            -             3,485        3,485         3,485                     3,485                  

23                 -             23             23              23                                                              23                       

1,500           1,500                      1,500              1,500                                                         1,500                  

612              612           240            205                 167               612                        612                     

 -               -              -                          -                                                             -                     

489               -             489           89              400                 489                                                            489                     

120,150        -             120,150    80,592       5,807              167               (52,928)          33,638                   64,148     22,364      -           -           -           -           -           -           -          120,150              

300,752       180,602      120,150    156,643     6,119               -               (84,515)          78,247                   109,270   46,806     12,271     11,248     8,582       8,582       8,582       8,582       8,582       300,752              

 -               -              -            -             -                  -                -                 -                         -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -           -                     

Loan (RCT)

Cwm Taf Morgannwg (HCF)

External Funding Approvals

WG - Other

WG - 21st Century Schools

WG - Enable Grant

WG - Integrated Care Fund (ICF)

WG - Welsh Medium Capital Grant

Sub-Total General Capital Funding

Prudential Borrowing (Corporately Funded)

SALIX Interest Free Loan - WG

Local Govt Borrowing Initiative (Highways Infrastructure)

Empty Property Enforcement Loan (RCT)

Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF)

Arts Council of Wales

Funding Shortfall/(Surplus)

Sport Wales

EU  

Other

Sub-Total External Funding Approvals

Total Funding Available

Westminster

S106

Cardiff Capital Region (CCR)

P
age 61



T
his page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX C 

 

PRUDENTIAL AND OTHER INDICATORS 2024-25 and 2025-26  
 
The Prudential Indicators are required to be set and approved by Council in accordance with 
CIPFA’s Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities.  
 
Table 1 shows the 2024-25 actual capital expenditure, the capital programme approved by 
Council on 26 February 2025 and the projected capital expenditure for the current financial 
year which has incorporated slippage of schemes from 2024-25 together with any new grants 
and contributions or changes in the profile of funding for 2025-26.  

 
Table 1: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Expenditure  

 

 2024-25 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2025-26 

Estimate 

(Council  

 Feb 25) 

£m 

2025-26 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Council Fund services 29.331 124.863 78.247 

Right of Use Assets 3.837                  

TOTAL 33.168 124.863 78.247 

 
All capital expenditure must be financed, either from external sources (government grants and 
other contributions), the Council’s own resources (revenue, reserves and capital receipts) or 
debt (the ‘net financing requirement’ - borrowing, leasing and Private Finance Initiative). The 
planned financing of the expenditure has been projected as follows: 
 

Table 2: Capital financing 

 

 2024-25 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2025-26 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 25) 

£m 

2025-26 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

External sources 20.706 72.610 38.410 

Own resources 2.858 38.717 25.607 

Net Financing 

Requirement  

9.604 13.536 14.230 

TOTAL 33.168 124.863 78.247 

 

The net financing requirement is only a temporary source of finance, since loans and leases 
must be repaid, and this is therefore replaced over time by other financing, usually from 
revenue which is known as the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). As well as MRP, the 
Council makes additional voluntary revenue contributions to pay off Prudential or Unsupported 
Borrowing. The total of these are shown in Table 3 below: 
 

Page 63



 

 

Table 3: Replacement of debt finance  

 

 2024-25 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2025-26 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 25) 

£m 

2025-26 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) 1.200 1.149 1.198 

Additional Voluntary Revenue Provision (VRP) 1.870 2.243 2.429 

Total MRP & VRP 3.070 3.392 3.627 

Other MRP on Long term Liabilities 1.159 1.232 1.293 

Total Own Resources 4.229 4.624 4.920 

 

The Council’s cumulative outstanding amount of debt finance is measured by the Capital 
Financing Requirement (CFR). This increases with new debt-financed capital expenditure and 
reduces by the MRP amount within the year. Based on the above figures for expenditure and 
financing, the Council’s actual CFR is as follows based on the movement on capital 
expenditure during the year: 

Table 4: Prudential Indicator: Estimates of Capital Financing Requirement 

 

 2024-25 

Actual 

£m 

2025-26 

Estimate – 

Capital 

Strategy 

£m 

2025-26 

Projection 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement    

Opening CFR excluding PFI & other 

liabilities 

 

162.745 

 

166.329 

 

165.442 

Opening PFI CFR 12.974 14.975 15.652 

Total opening CFR 175.719 181.304 181.094 

Movement in CFR excluding PFI & 

other liabilities 

 

(0.981) 

 

13.954 

 

10.603 

Movement in PFI and other long term 

leases CFR 

 

6.356 

 

(1.232) 

 

(1.293) 

Total movement in CFR 5.375 12.722 9.310 

Closing CFR 181.094 194.026 190.404 

Movement in CFR represented by:    

Net financing need for year (Table 2 

above) 

 

9.604 

 

17.346 

 

14.230 

Minimum and voluntary revenue 

provisions 

 

(3.070) 

 

(3.392) 

 

(3.627) 

MRP on PFI and other long term 

leases (Table 3) 

 

(1.159) 

 

(1.232) 

 

(1.293) 

Total movement 5.375 12.722 9.310 

 

 

Page 64



The capital borrowing need (Capital Financing Requirement) has not been fully funded with 
loan debt as cash supporting the Council’s reserves, balances and cash flow has been used 
as a temporary measure. This is known as Internal Borrowing. Projected levels of the Council’s 
total outstanding debt, which comprises of borrowing, PFI and Other Long Term Liabilities, are 
shown below compared with the Capital Financing Requirement:  
 
 
Table 5: Prudential Indicator: Gross Debt and the Capital Financing Requirement 

 

 2024-25 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2025-26 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 25) 

£m 

2025-26 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Debt (incl. PFI & leases) 119.412 103.428 111.849 

Capital Financing 

Requirement 

181.094 194.026 190.404 

 
Statutory guidance is that debt should remain below the capital financing requirement, except 
in the short-term. As can be seen, the Council expects to comply with this in the medium term. 
 
The Council is legally obliged to set an affordable borrowing limit (also termed the authorised 
limit for external debt) each year. In line with statutory guidance, a lower “operational 
boundary” is also set as a warning level should debt approach the limit. 

Table 6: Prudential Indicators: Authorised limit and operational boundary for external debt in £m 

 

 2024-25 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2025-26 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 25) 

£m 

2025-26 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Authorised limit – 

borrowing 

Authorised limit – other 

long term liabilities 

170.000 

25.000 

170.000 

25.000 

170.000 

25.000 

Authorised Limit Total 195.000 195.000 195.000 

Operational boundary – 

borrowing 

Operational boundary – 

other long term liabilities 

120.000 

 

20.000 

140.000 

 

20.000 

140.000 

 

20.000 

Operational Boundary 

Limit Total 

140.000 160.000 160.000 

    

Total Borrowing and 

Long Term Liabilities 

119.460 103.428 111.849 

 
 

Page 65



Although capital expenditure is not charged directly to the revenue budget, interest payable 
on loans and MRP are charged to revenue, offset by any investment income receivable. The 
net annual charge is known as financing costs; this is compared to the net revenue stream i.e. 
the amount funded from Council Tax, business rates and general government grants 

Table 7: Prudential Indicator: Proportion of financing costs to net revenue stream 

 2024-25 

 

Actual 

 

£m 

2025-26 

Estimate 

(Council  

Feb 25) 

£m 

2025-26 

 

Projection 

 

£m 

Capital Financing Central 
 

5.142 5.065 6.456 

Other Financing costs  0.945 0.869 1.078 

TOTAL FINANCING COSTS 
 

6.087 5.934 7.534 

Proportion of net revenue stream 1.94% 1.55% 1.99% 

 

This shows that in 2025-26, it is forecast that 1.99% of the Council’s net revenue income will 
be spent on paying back the costs of capital expenditure.  

The net revenue stream is calculated as the income from Welsh Government Revenue 
Settlement Grant plus Council Tax and NNDR, less Police and Community Council precepts. 

The table below shows the Prudential Indicator of estimates of net income from commercial 
and service investments to net revenue stream. 

Table 8: Prudential Indicator: Net Income from Commercial and Service Investments to Net Revenue 
Stream 

  2024-25 
Actual 

£m 

2025-26 
Estimate 

£m 

2025-26 
Projection 

£m 

Net Revenue Stream  361.283      
     

383.226  383.226 

Income from Commercial Investments 
        

0.459  
        

0.459          0.459  

        

% Ratio 0.13% 0.12% 0.12% 

 

The income receivable from the commercial property portfolio is not deemed to be a financial 
resilience risk in terms of being ‘disproportionate’ to the Council’s overall income.  

Page 66



 

 
Meeting of:  

 
COUNCIL 

 

 
Date of Meeting:  

 
19 NOVEMBER 2025 

 

 
Report Title:  

 
TREASURY MANAGEMENT  

HALF YEAR REPORT 2025-26 
 

 
Report Owner / 
Corporate Director:  

 

 
CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND PERFORMANCE 

 
CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, HOUSING AND CHANGE 

Responsible 
Officer:  

NIGEL SMITH 
GROUP MANAGER – CHIEF ACCOUNTANT 

 

Policy Framework 
and Procedure 
Rules:  

Para 23.5 Financial Procedure Rules require that the Chief 
Finance Officer shall report quarterly to the Cabinet, 
summarising borrowing and investment activity and 
indicating compliance with any statutory or Council 
approved guidelines together with a half yearly and an 
annual report to Council. 
 

Executive 
Summary:  
 

The report provides an update of Treasury Management 
activity for the half year to 30 September 2025. 
 
As at 30 September 2025 the Council had £93.50 million of 
long term debt, £2.32 million of Salix loans (interest free), 
£15.12 million of other long term liabilities and £64.95 
million of investments. The overall net debt position is 
£45.99 million.   
 
The average interest rate for debt as at 30 September 2025 
was 4.73%. For investments it was 3.77%. 
 
The Council has a manageable maturity structure of 
borrowing, with its current debt repayable at various points 
over the next 30 years, the next repayment being due in 
March 2026.  
 
The Council is required to set and report against Treasury 
Management Indicators, details of which are included in 
Appendix A. These show that the Council is operating 
within its approved limits. 
 
The Council has complied with the Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in 
the Public Services Code of Practice and Welsh 
Government Investment Guidance during the period.  

 

Page 67

Agenda Item 9



 

1. Purpose of Report  
 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to update Council on the treasury management activities 
and treasury management indicators for the half year ending 30 September 2025. 

2. Background  
 
2.1 Treasury Management is the management of the Council’s cash flows, borrowing and 

investments, and the associated risks. The Council is exposed to financial risks 
including the loss of invested funds and the revenue effect of changing interest rates. 
The successful identification, monitoring and control of financial risk are therefore 
central to the Council’s prudent financial management. 

 
2.2 Treasury risk management at the Council is conducted within the framework of the 

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy’s Treasury Management in 
the Public Services: Code of Practice 2021 edition (the TM Code), which requires the 
Council to approve a Treasury Management Strategy before the start of each 
financial year, and, as a minimum, a semi-annual and annual treasury outturn report. 
The TM Code also requires the Council to set a number of Treasury Management 
Indicators, which are forward looking parameters, and enable the Council to measure 
and manage its exposure to treasury management risks, and these are included 
throughout this report. Welsh Government (WG) guidance issued in November 2019 
on Local Authority Investments requires the Council to approve an Investment 
Strategy before the start of each financial year. This report fulfils the Council’s legal 
obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have regard to both the CIPFA 
Code and the Welsh Government Guidance.  
 

2.3 The CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities (2021 Edition) 
(Prudential Code) includes a requirement for Local Authorities to provide a Capital 
Strategy, which is a summary document approved by full Council covering capital 
expenditure and financing, treasury management and non-treasury investments. The 
definition of investments in the revised Prudential Code covers all the financial assets 
of the Council as well as other non-financial assets which the authority holds primarily 
for financial return. The Council’s Capital Strategy 2025-26 complied with CIPFA’s 
requirement and included the Prudential Indicators along with the details regarding 
the Council’s non-treasury investments. The Capital Strategy and Treasury 
Management Strategy should be read in conjunction with each other as they are 
interlinked, as borrowing and investments are directly impacted upon by capital plans, 
and both were approved together by Council on 26 February 2025.  
 

  

Page 68



 

2.4 The Council’s treasury management advisors are Arlingclose. The current services 
provided to the Council include:  

  

• advice and guidance on relevant policies, strategies and reports  

• advice on investment decisions  

• notification of credit ratings and changes  

• other information on credit quality  

• advice on debt management decisions  

• accounting advice  

• reports on treasury performance  

• forecasts of interest rates  

• training courses  

3. Current situation / proposal  
 
3.1 External Context – Economic Background  
 
3.1.1 UK headline consumer price inflation (CPI) increased slightly over the quarter, rising 

from an annual rate of 3.6% in June to 3.8% in September, well above the Bank of 
England’s 2% target. The core measure of inflation also increased, from 3.4% to 3.5% 
over the same period. 

 
3.1.2 Data released during the period showed the UK economy expanded by 0.3% in the 

second quarter of the calendar year, following an increase of 0.7% in the first quarter. 
UK Gross Domestic Product (GDP) was revised upwards to 1.4% year on year in the 
final version of the Quarter 2 2025 GDP Report. 

 
3.1.3 Interest rates during the quarter reduced from 4.25% in May 2025 to 4.00% in August 

2025, remaining unchanged when the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee 
met again in September.  Arlingclose, the authority’s treasury adviser, maintained its 
central view that Bank Rate would continue to fall, and a further reduction is expected 
later in the year. 

 
3.2 Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) Lending Facility Advice, Revised CIPFA 

Codes 
 
3.2.1 The Council continues to undertake its duties in line with the current guidance for the 

PWLB lending facility which was significantly revised by HM Treasury in August 2021.  
Authorities that are purchasing or intending to purchase investment assets primarily 
for yield, or financial return, will not be able to access funding from the PWLB except 
to refinance existing loans or externalise internal borrowing. Acceptable use of PWLB 
borrowing includes service delivery, housing, regeneration, preventative action, 
refinancing and treasury management.  
 

3.2.2 The Council’s treasury management activities are undertaken in line with CIPFA’s 
Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities and CIPFA’s Treasury 
Management in the Public Services Code.  To comply with the Prudential Code 
authorities must not borrow to invest primarily for financial return. The Prudential 
Code also states it is not prudent for local authorities to make investment or spending 
decisions that will increase the Capital Financing Requirement (CFR) unless directly 
and primarily related to the functions of the authority. Existing commercial 
investments are not required to be sold, however, authorities with existing commercial 

Page 69



 

investments who expect to need to borrow should review the options for exiting these 
investments.  

 
3.3 Treasury Management update for period 1 April 2025 to 30 September 2025 
 
3.3.1 The Council has complied with its legislative and regulatory requirements during the 

half year period to 30 September 2025. The Treasury Management Strategy 2025-
26 was approved by Council on 26 February 2025.  

 
3.3.2 A summary of the treasury management activities is shown in the Treasury 

Management Quarterly report to 30 September 2025 at Appendix A. The Council’s 
external debt and investment position on 30 September 2025 is shown in Table 1 
below, and more detail is provided in Appendix A. No long-term borrowing has been 
taken out in the first half of 2025-26. 
 
The balance on investments held at 30 September 2025 was £64.95 million, a very 
slight increase from the £64 million held at 30 June 2025, with an average interest 
rate of 3.77% (4.08% as at 30 June 2025). The reduction in average interest rate is 
as expected given the reduction in the Bank of England base rate. 

 

Table 1: Council’s external debt and investment position at 30 September 2025 
 

Investments for Treasury 
Purposes 

Principal                 
as at 

31/03/2025 

Principal                 
as at 

30/09/2025 

 Average 
Rate             

30/09/2025 

£m £m % 

External Long Term Borrowing    

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 77.04 74.25 4.75 
Lenders Option Borrowers Option 
(LOBO) 

19.25 19.25 4.65 

Salix Loans (Interest Free) 2.51 2.32 NIL 

Short Term Borrowing 5.00 NIL NIL 

Total External Borrowing 103.80 95.82 4.73* 

Other Long Term Liabilities     

Private Finance Initiative** 11.97 11.43   

IFRS 16 Leases 3.69 3.69   

Total Other Long Term Liabilities 15.66 15.12   

Total Gross Debt 119.46 110.94   

Investments for treasury 
management purposes 

    

Debt Management Office 18.00 33.50 3.96 

Money Market Funds (instant 
access) 

12.75 23.50 4.06 

Banks 6.00      7.95 2.72 

Total Treasury Investments 36.75 64.95 3.77 

Net Debt 82.71 45.99   
 
* Excluding Salix loans which are interest free 
** (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 8.5 years remaining term 
 

  

Page 70



 

3.3.3 The £19.25 million in Table 1 above relates to Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option 
(LOBO) loans which have a maturity date of 2054 though these may be rescheduled 
in advance of this maturity date with the lender having the ability to recall the debt at 
2 intervals in the year, July and January. Whilst the expectation is that as interest 
rates fall the lender is unlikely to exercise this option, and it was not exercised on 22 
July 2025, there remains some risk that the lender may exercise their option. 

 
3.3.4 The Total Other Long Term Liabilities figure of £15.12 million at 30 September 2025 

includes £11.43 million for the Private Finance initiative (PFI) arrangement for the 
provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg and £3.69 million right of use assets.  

 
3.3.5 Both the CIPFA Code and Welsh Government Guidance require the Council to invest 

its funds prudently and to have regard to the security and liquidity of its investments 
before seeking the highest rate of return, or yield. The Council’s objective when 
investing money is to strike an appropriate balance between risk and return. 
Investment decisions are made by reference to the lowest published long-term credit 
rating from Fitch, Moody’s or Standard and Poor’s to ensure that this lies within the 
Councils’ agreed minimum credit rating.  
 

3.3.6 The Council defines high credit quality as organisations and securities having a credit 
rating of A- (A3 for Moody’s) or higher and the Council does not invest in any 
organisation below this level. Schedule A in Appendix A shows the equivalence table 
for credit ratings for Fitch, Moody’s, and Standard and Poor’s and explains the 
different investment grades. 

 
3.3.7 There are no long-term investments (original duration of 12 months or more) 

outstanding as at 30 September 2025. All investments at 30 September 2025 are 
short term deposits including instant access and notice accounts. 

 
3.3.8 The Treasury Management Code requires the Council to set and report on a number 

of Treasury Management Indicators. The indicators either summarise the expected 
activity or introduce limits upon the activity. Details of the estimates for 2025-26 set 
out in the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy compared to the actual at 30 
September 2025 are shown in Appendix A and these show that the Council operated 
within the approved limits throughout the year to date. 
 
 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh Language) 
 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic Duty 

and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered in the 
preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must consider the 
impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the review of policies, 
strategies, services and functions. This is an information report; therefore it is not 
necessary to carry out an Equality Impact assessment in the production of this report. 
It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a 
result of this report.  

 
 

  

Page 71



 

5. Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to Corporate 
Well-being Objectives 

 
5.1 The well-being goals identified in the Act were considered in the preparation of this 

report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts upon 
the achievement of well-being goals/objectives because of this report. 

 
6. Climate Change and Nature Implications  
 
6.1 The Climate Change and nature implications were considered in the preparation of 

this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or unacceptable impacts 
upon the environment because of this report.   
 

7. Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1 The Safeguarding and Corporate Parenting implications were considered in the 

preparation of this report. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable impacts upon safeguarding and corporate parenting because of this 
report. 

 
8.  Financial Implications  
 
8.1 The financial implications are reflected within the report and attached Appendix A. 
 
9. Recommendations 

 
9.1 It is recommended that Council: 
 

• Note the treasury management activities for the half year ending 30 
September 2025. 

• Note the Treasury Management Indicators for the period 1 April 2025 to 30 
September 2025 against those approved in the Treasury Management 
Strategy 2025-26. 

 
Background documents 
 
None 

Page 72



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Treasury Management  
Half Year Report to 30 September 2025 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

Page 73



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  2 | 17 
 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 

 

• Treasury Management is the management of the Council’s cash flows on a day-
to-day basis and is carried out in accordance with legislation and Codes of 
Practice. The Treasury Management Strategy for 2025-26 was approved by 
Council on 26 February 2025. 

• Inflation as measured by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) continued to stay 
above the Bank of England’s target of 2% at 3.8% in September, a slight rise 
from 3.6% in June 2025. 

• The Bank of England base rate was reduced to 4.0% in August and remained 
unchanged in their September meeting. 

• Total external borrowing at 30 September 2025 was £95.82 million, a slight 
reduction from the previous quarter of £98.61 million due to repayment of 
£2.79m long-term Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing. 

• Total investments at 30 September 2025 were £64.95 million, a slight increase 
from £64 million at the previous quarter. 

• Average interest rates on investments as at 30 September 2025 were 3.77%, 
a reduction from those at 30 June 2025 of 4.08%. This reduction is as expected 
given the reduction in the Bank of England base rate. 

• The Council’s investments are diversified across a number of institutions, 
including Money Market Funds, Debt Management Office and banks. Security 
of the Council’s cash resources is always the primary factor when investing 
cash resources. 

• Based on the approved capital programme the Council may need to borrow 
long term during 2025-26, however, this is dependent on the actual expenditure 
incurred on capital projects and the use of earmarked reserves. In the short 
term the Council uses the cash available from earmarked reserves to finance 
capital expenditure, known as internal borrowing. This is prudent whilst the 
Council has resources available, but these will need to be replaced with 
borrowing as the reserves are used. 

• The liability benchmark indicates the Council may need to borrow up to £18 
million during 2025-26, but this will be closely monitored during the year to 
ensure borrowing is taken when necessary.  

• The Council has operated within the approved limits set out in the Treasury 
Management Strategy 2025-26. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 74



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  3 | 17 
 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 

 
Treasury management activities are the ‘management of the organisation’s borrowing, 
investments and cash flows, including its banking, money market and capital market 
transactions, the effective control of the risks associated with those activities, and the 
pursuit of optimum performance consistent with those risks.’ (Chartered Institute of 
Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Treasury Management in the Public 
Services: Code of Practice (2021) (CIPFA TM Code). 
 
The definition of ‘Investments’ includes: 
 

• Treasury Management investments (held for the prudent management of 
financial affairs), and 

• non-Treasury Investments, undertaken as part of a Capital Strategy either in 
the course of provision of services, or made for commercial reasons purely to 
make a financial gain. These are managed outside of normal treasury 
management activity. 

 
The Council carries out its treasury management function in accordance with the 
CIPFA TM Code and the legal obligation under the Local Government Act 2003 to have 
regard to both the CIPFA TM Code and Welsh Government Guidance. 
 
The Council has an integrated Treasury Management Strategy where borrowing and 
investments are managed in accordance with best professional practice, which is 
assessed either from internal expertise or consultation with our external advisers. The 
Council will look to borrow money if needed to either meet short term cash flow needs 
or to fund capital schemes approved within the capital programme. Therefore, any 
actual loans taken are not generally associated with particular items of expenditure or 
assets.  
 
The Council delegates responsibility for the implementation and regular monitoring of 
its treasury management policies and practices to Cabinet, and for the execution and 
administration of treasury management decisions to the Section 151 Officer. The 
Governance and Audit Committee are responsible for ensuring effective scrutiny of 
the Treasury Management Strategy and policies and regular reports will be presented 
to the Committee for their consideration. 
 

2.0 ECONOMIC CONTEXT   

UK headline consumer price inflation (CPI) increased slightly over the quarter, rising 
from an annual rate of 3.6% in June to 3.8% in September, well above the Bank of 
England’s 2% target. The core measure of inflation (excluding energy, food, alcohol 
and tobacco) also increased, from 3.4% to 3.5% over the same period. 

Data released during the period showed the UK economy expanded by 0.3% in the 
second quarter of the calendar year, following an increase of 0.7% in the first quarter. 
UK Gross Domestic Product (GDP) was revised upwards to 1.4% year on year in the 
final version of the Quarter 2 2025 GDP Report. 

Page 75



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  4 | 17 
 

Labour market data continued to soften throughout the period, with the unemployment 
rate rising and earnings growth easing. In addition, the employment rate rose while 
the economic inactivity rate and number of vacancies fell.  

Having started the financial year at 4.5%, the Bank of England’s Monetary Policy 
Committee (MPC) cut Bank Rate to 4.25% in May with a further reduction of 0.25% to 
4.00% in August after an unprecedented second round of voting. The final 5-4 vote 
was for a 0.25% cut, with the majority wanting no change. In September, seven MPC 
members voted to hold rates while two preferred a 0.25% cut. The committee’s views 
still differ on whether the upside risks from inflation expectations and wage setting 
outweigh downside risks from weaker demand and growth. The committee is next due 
to meet on 6 November 2025.  

The August Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Report highlighted that after peaking 

in Quarter 3 2025, inflation is projected to fall back to its target of 2% by mid-2027, 

helped by increasing spare capacity in the economy and the ongoing effects from past 

tighter policy rates. GDP is expected to remain weak in the near-term while over the 

medium term outlook will be influenced by domestic and global developments. 

Arlingclose, the authority’s treasury adviser, maintained its central view that Bank Rate 

would be cut further as the Bank of England focused on weak GDP growth more than 

higher inflation. One more cut is currently expected during 2025-26, taking Bank Rate 

to 3.75%. The risks to the forecast are balanced in the near-term but weighted to the 

downside further out as weak consumer sentiment and business confidence and 

investment continue to constrain growth. There is also considerable uncertainty 

around the autumn Budget and the impact this will have on the outlook. 

3.0     EXTERNAL DEBT AND INVESTMENT POSITION 

The Council’s external debt and investments at 30 September 2025 is set out in Table 
1 below. The Council held £95.82 million of Long Term Borrowing comprising: 
 

• Public Works Loan Board (PWLB - UK government) at fixed rates and duration 

• Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option (LOBO) which may be rescheduled ahead 
of their maturity of 22 July 2054 (no call was made in July 2025) 

• £2.32 million of Salix interest-free loans 
 

The Council borrowed £5 million from the PWLB in February 2025 over a 16-month 

period for cash flow purposes and to replace a £5m PWLB long term loan that was 

repaid on 31 March 2025. 

At 30 September 2025 the Council had £64.95 million of investments for treasury 

management purposes and £4.89 million of investments for commercial purposes.  

 

  

Page 76



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  5 | 17 
 

Table 1: Council’s external debt and investment position as of 30 September 2025 
 

Investments for Treasury Purposes 

Principal                 
as at 

31/03/2025 

Principal                 
as at 

30/09/2025 

 Average 
Rate             

30/09/2025 

£m £m % 

External Long Term Borrowing    

Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) 77.04 74.25 4.75 

Lenders Option Borrowers Option (LOBO) 19.25 19.25 4.65 

Salix Loans (Interest Free) 2.51 2.32 NIL 

Short Term Borrowing 5.00 NIL NIL 

Total External Borrowing 103.80 95.82 4.73* 

Other Long Term Liabilities     

Private Finance Initiative** 11.97 11.43   

IFRS 16 Leases 3.69 3.69   

Total Other Long Term Liabilities 15.66 15.12   

Total Gross Debt 119.46 110.94   

Investments for treasury management 
purposes 

    

Debt Management Office 18.00 33.50 3.96 

Money Market Funds (instant access) 12.75 23.50 4.06 

Banks 6.00      7.95 2.72 

Total Treasury Investments 36.75 64.95 3.77 

Net Debt 82.71 45.99   

    

Investments for Commercial Purposes 

Fair Value 
as at 

31/03/2025 
£m 

Anticipated 
return 

31/03/2026 
£m 

Investments 4.890 0.458 
 
* Excluding Salix loans which are interest free and Short Term borrowing 
** (PFI) arrangement for the provision of a Secondary School in Maesteg 8 years remaining term 
 
 

The current profile of repayment of the Council’s long-term debt is set out in the 
Liability Benchmark chart below. The table assumes that the Public Works Loan Board 
and Lender’s Option Borrower’s Option loans will be repayable on their maturity date. 
However, although shown as maturing in 2054, the £19.25 million of Lender’s Option 
Borrower’s Option loans may be called sooner than this, the next call date being 22 
January 2026. 
 
PWLB lending criteria requires that the Council does not invest purely for financial 
return if it wishes to access any new PWLB borrowing. The CIPFA TM Code sets out 
that it is not prudent for local authorities to invest for financial return. 
 
All borrowing by the Council is as a single pool of debt rather than having loans specific 
to individual schemes. Where a Council finances capital expenditure by debt, it must 
put aside revenue to repay that debt in later years, known as Minimum Revenue 
Provision (MRP). The forecast MRP for 2025-26 as set out in the Capital Strategy is 

Page 77



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  6 | 17 
 

£4.624 million, which includes supported and unsupported borrowing, the PFI for 
Maesteg School and leases recognised on the balance sheet as from 1 April 2024.  
 
Liability benchmark 
 
The liability benchmark is a tool which helps to assess the lowest level of borrowing 
the Council needs, taking into account available cash resources to fund capital 
expenditure in the short term. A minimum level of investments is factored into the 
calculation, set at £10 million, which are held as reasonably liquid to ensure the 
Council has available cash resources to meet day-to-day cash flow requirements. 
Forecast borrowing needs are based on capital expenditure estimates and available 
usable reserves. The underlying need to borrow to fund capital expenditure (known as 
the Capital Financing Requirement or CFR) is the amount of capital expenditure which 
is not funded via grants, capital receipts or contributions from revenue and earmarked 
reserves. 
 
Table 2 below shows the Capital Financing Requirement and the calculation of the 
liability benchmark. It is important to note that the graph is based on the current 
approved capital programme and the borrowing associated therewith. Any new 
schemes which require debt financing will increase the CFR and loans requirement. 
 
Table 2: Liability benchmark 
 

 31 March 
2025 
actual  

 
£m 

31 March 
2026 

estimate 
(TMS) 

£m 

31 March 
2026 

forecast 
 

£m 

31 March 
2027 

forecast 
 

£m 

31 March 
2028 

forecast 
 

£m 

Capital Financing Requirement 181.09 183.22 190.40 206.75 206.06 

Less: Other debt liabilities (15.65) (15.12) (14.36) (12.97) (11.50) 

Loans Capital Financing 
Requirement 

165.44 168.10 176.04 193.78 194.56 
 

Less: Balance Sheet Resources (108.44) (58.52) (81.67) (61.97) (48.13) 

Plus: Liquidity allowance 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 10.00 

Liability Benchmark 67.00 119.58 104.37 141.81 156.43 

 
The liability benchmark is an important tool to help establish whether the Council is 
likely to be a long-term borrower or long-term investor in the future and so shape its 
strategic focus and decision making. The liability benchmark itself represents an 
estimate of the cumulative amount of external borrowing the Council must hold to fund 
its current capital plans while keeping treasury investments at the minimum level to 
manage day-to-day cash flow. 
 

Page 78



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  7 | 17 
 

 
 
 
The Council may need to borrow long term in 2025-26 although this is based on a 
number of assumptions including the forecast capital programme expenditure and the 
level and use of reserves. 
 
The Section 151 Officer will monitor and update the liability benchmark assumptions 
on an on-going basis and report any significant changes within the treasury 
management monitoring reports to Cabinet, the Governance and Audit Committee and 
Council as appropriate. This could be as a result of changes in the level of usable 
reserves at year end, slippage within the Capital Programme or changes within the 
working capital assumptions which may affect the Council’s need to take new long-
term borrowing. 
 

4.0 BORROWING 

As at 30 September 2025 the Council held £95.82 million of Long-Term Borrowing, 
£93.50 million of which is fixed long term loans as part of its strategy for funding 
previous years’ capital programmes.  
 
The Council has previously raised the majority of its long-term borrowing from the 
Public Works Loan Board (PWLB), and this was the case when the Council borrowed 
£5 million for duration of 16 months in February 2025. The Council will however 
consider long term loans from other sources including banks, pension funds and other 
local authorities if appropriate. The Council will also investigate the possibility of 
issuing bonds and similar instruments, in order to lower interest costs and reduce over-
reliance on one source of funding in line with the CIPFA TM Code.  
 

Page 79



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  8 | 17 
 

The Council has loans from PWLB maturing within the next 3 financial years that it will 
need to repay.  Given the anticipated level of expenditure within the capital programme 
over the current and next financial years, it is likely that new borrowing will be required 
to replace these maturing loans. The value of the loans due to be repaid over the next 
3 years is shown in Table 3. 
 
Table 3: Value of PWLB maturing debt 
 

 2025-26 
£ million 

2026-27 
£ million 

2027-28 
£ million 

Value of maturing debt 0.918 7.790 1.395 

 
The £0.918 million due for repayment during 2025-26 will be maturing at the end of 
the current financial year, 31 March 2026. There will be £7.790 million maturing next 
financial year, 2026-27, £5 million due for repayment on 5 June 2026 and £2.790 
million on 31 March 2027. As noted above the Council is likely to need to borrow during 
2025-26 which will replace these maturing loans. 
 
Maturity structure of borrowing 
 
The maturity structure of borrowing indicator is set to control the Council’s exposure 
to refinancing risk with respect to the maturity of the Council’s external borrowing. The 
limits are set to avoid having large amounts of debt maturing in a short space of time 
and is the amount of projected borrowing maturing in each period as a percentage of 
total projected borrowing. Where the maturity date of borrowing is unknown, as in the 
case of LOBO loans, the maturity should normally be determined by reference to the 
earliest date at which the lender can require repayment. The £19.25 million of LOBO 
loans has therefore been included in the ‘Under 12 months’ category. This table also 
reflects the PWLB repayable in 2025-26.  
 
Table 4: Maturity Structure of Borrowing 2025-26 
 

 
As can be seen from the table the maturity structure remains within the limits approved 
as part of the Treasury Management Strategy 2025-26. The following chart provides 
the maturity profile of the Council’s long term debt. 
 

Maturity structure of borrowing Upper limit lower limit £ million As at  
30 September 

2025 

 Under 12 months  50% 0% 25.56 26.68% 

 12 months and within 24 months 25% 0% 3.18 3.32% 

 24 months and within 5 years 25% 0% 9.08 9.47% 

 5 years and within 10 years 40% 0% 16.61 17.33% 

 10 years and within 20 years 50% 0% 5.00 5.22% 

 20 years and above 60% 25% 36.39 37.98% 

Page 80



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  9 | 17 
 

 
All the LOBO loans are subject to the lender having the right to change the rate of 
interest payable during the financial year at either of two trigger points in January and 
July, with the Council having the right to refuse the change, triggering early repayment 
and the need to re-finance. This is a manageable risk should repayment be needed 
during the current financial year as the Council has sufficient cash funds available in 
the short term, but would, however, need to consider taking out new debt to replace 
these loans during the current financial year. These loans were not called at the July 
call date, and the next call date is 22 January 2026. 
 
Table 5: LOBO loans 
 

 
In accordance with the Treasury Management Strategy, the Council is internally 
borrowing, which is when it uses temporary cash balances it holds in the short term 
instead of undertaking external borrowing. Internal borrowing is estimated to be £78.55 
million as at 31 March 2026. This is shown by the Council’s Capital Financing 
Requirement (CFR) net of its external level of debt including other long term debt 
liabilities. The Council’s forecast CFR as at 31 March 2026 is £190.40 million, external 
borrowing £97.49 million and other long term debt liabilities £14.36 million, which is 
primarily the PFI Maesteg School scheme plus the lease commitments of right of use 
assets.  
 
The chart below shows the trend in the CFR based on current capital commitments 
within the approved capital programme. The CFR is anticipated to increase in the 
current and following year assuming capital expenditure is incurred as currently 
anticipated. The CFR in future years shows a marginal reduction, however, this is on 
the assumption that there will be no new schemes added to the capital programme 
which require debt financing. If new schemes requiring debt financing are added, the 
CFR will continue to increase. 
 

0

5,000,000

10,000,000

15,000,000

20,000,000

25,000,000
Maturity Profile of long and short term debt

Public Works Loan Board LOBO Salix

Commencement 
date 

Loan value 
£m 

Potential 
repayment date 

Option 
frequency 

Full term maturity 

22 January 2004 4.00 22 January 2026 6 months 22 January 2054 

22 January 2004 5.00 22 January 2026 6 months 22 January 2054 

22 January 2004 10.25 22 January 2026 6 months 22 January 2054 

Page 81



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  10 | 17 
 

 
 

 

 

5.0 TREASURY INVESTMENTS 

The Council holds treasury investments as a result of temporary cash balances arising 
from its day-to-day activities. The management of the day-to-day cash requirements of 
the Council is undertaken in-house with advice from Arlingclose, the Council’s Treasury 
Management advisors. This may involve temporary borrowing to meet cash-flow needs 
or temporary lending of surplus funds. Investment balances can fluctuate daily and 
arise as a result of a range of circumstances, including timing differences of revenue 
and capital cash flows, reserves and other balances held for future use. 
 
Investments are made in institutions approved by the Council as part of its Treasury 
Management Strategy and in accordance with investment guidelines issued by the 
Welsh Government. As part of the Markets and Financial Instruments Directive II, the 
Council elected for ‘professional’ status, which covers national and regional 
governments and public bodies. The categories of investments the Council can invest 
in can be changed with any proposed changes being presented to Council for approval.  
Treasury investments are made primarily on the basis of ensuring security of the funds 
invested, whilst managing liquidity, and only then considering a commensurate return 
on the investment. As at 30 September 2025, the Council held £64.95 million of 
investments, with a weighted average return (based on the rate of return of each 
investment over the 3 month period) of 4.08% (£64 million at 4.20% as at 30 June 
2025). This compares to the average interest rate of investments as at 30 September 
2025 of 3.77%, as shown in Table 1 and indicates that returns are falling, as expected 
when the Bank of England base rate reduces. 

Page 82



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  11 | 17 
 

Table 6 below shows the investment profile as at 30 September 2025. 
 
Table 6: Investments by counterparty type 
 

 
The following should be noted: 
 

• During the period to 30 September 2025 all investments made were in line with 
the approved counterparties within the Treasury Management Strategy. 

• Investments are diversified over a number of organisations across different 
sectors, demonstrating a diversified investment portfolio. 

• All investments are in sterling and are rated A- and above as per the approved 
criteria or with a public body. 

• The weighted average rates are for all investments made during 1 April 2025 to 
30 September 2025. 

 

The overall interest receivable from treasury investments for the period 1 April 2025 to 
30 September 2025 was £1.292 million. There has been a slow and gradual reduction 
to interest rates since they reached their peak of 5.25% in July 2024, with 5 reductions 
of 0.25% each since then, bringing the current rate to 4.00%.  The Council will continue 
to take a cautious approach to investing to ensure as its primary concern the security 
of any investments made. The risk of default for investments held is considered 
negligible. 

All investments longer than 364 days will be made with a cautious approach to cash 
flow requirements and advice from the Council’s Treasury Management advisors will 
be sought as necessary. All investments as at 30 September 2025 were short term of 
less than one year duration, as shown in Table 7 below. 
 
 
  

Investment 
Category 

Balance 1 
April 2025 

 
 

£m 

Investments 
made in 
period 

 
£m 

Investments 
repaid in 

period 
 

£m 

Balance 
30 Sept 

2025 
 

£m 

Weighted 
interest rate      

1 July 2025 to 
30 Sept 2025 

% 

Government DMO 18.00 311.50 (296.00) 33.50 4.16 

Money Market 
Funds 

12.75 23.00 (12.25) 23.50 4.25 

Banks (instant 
access/notice 
accounts) 

6.00 22.00 (20.05) 7.95 3.18 

TOTAL 36.75 356.50 (328.30) 64.95 4.08 

Page 83



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  12 | 17 
 

Table 7: Sums invested for periods longer than a year 
 

Price risk indicator TMS  
2025-26 

£m 

Actual 
 

£m 

Full term 
maturity 

Limit on principal invested beyond financial 
year end 

10 NIL 
 

NIL 

 
 
The below table details the Council’s investments by counterparty and maturity profile. 
 
Table 8: Investments by maturity 
 

Counterparty 
Category 

Instant 
Access 

 
 

£m 

Deposits 
maturing 
within 1 
month 

£m 

Deposits 
maturing 
within 2-3 
months 

£m 

Deposits 
maturing 

within 4-12 
months 

£m 

TOTAL 
 
 
 

£m 

Government DMO - 29.50 4.00 - 33.50 

Money Market Funds 23.50 - - - 23.50 

Banks 7.95 - - - 7.95 

Total 31.45 29.50 4.00 0.00 64.95 

 
The pie chart below summarises the distribution of the Council’s investments by credit 
ratings. The DMO are the UK government and rated AA-. 

Page 84



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  13 | 17 
 

 

6.0 INTEREST RATE EXPOSURES 

The Council is exposed to interest rate movements on its borrowings and 
investments. Movements in interest rates have a complex impact on the Council, 
depending on how variable and fixed interest rates move across differing financial 
instrument periods. Short term and variable rate loans expose the Council to the 
risk of short-term interest rate rises and are therefore subject to the Treasury 
Management indicator below. 

The following Table is based on investments at 30 September 2025. 
 
Table 9: Interest Rate Exposure 
 

Interest rate risk indicator £ million 

One year revenue impact of a 1% rise in interest rates (0.4.29) 

One year revenue impact of a 1% fall in interest rates 0.621 

Credit Ratings

Banks DMO MMF

DMO 
51.58%

Page 85



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  14 | 17 
 

It is important to note that this is an indicator, not a limit. It is calculated at a point in 
time on the assumption that maturing loans and investments would be replaced at 
rates 1% higher or lower than they are currently, and that the treasury investment and 
borrowing portfolios remain unchanged over the next 12 months, which in practice is 
not the case. The figure for the 1% fall in interest rates indicator is not the same figure 
as the 1% increase (but reversed) as the borrowing relates to variable LOBO loans 
where it is assumed that the lender would only exercise their option if there was an 
increase in interest rates. All other borrowing does not have a rate reset in the next 
year and is with the PWLB at fixed rates. 
 
A comparison of interest payable on borrowings excluding other long term liabilities 
(PFI and lease interest), and interest income due for the period 1 April 2025 to 30 
September 2025 is shown below. 
 
Table 10: Interest 
 

 

01 April 2025 – 
30 September 

2025 
£ million 

Interest expenditure payable on long term borrowing 
          0.591 

Interest income receivable in period (1.292) 

Net interest cost (0.701) 

 
7.0 NON-TREASURY INVESTMENTS 

The Council recognises that investment in other financial assets and property primarily 
for financial return, taken for non-treasury management purposes, requires careful 
investment management. Such activities include investments in subsidiaries and 
investments in property. A schedule of the Council’s existing non-treasury investments 
(currently limited to owned property) is set out in Table 11 below. Recent PWLB 
guidance requires that local authorities should review their investment portfolio if they 
wish to secure PWLB borrowing but does not require the local authority to sell existing 
investment assets. This category covers non-financial assets held primarily or partially 
to generate a profit, primarily investment property. These assets are valued on an 
annual basis to reflect market conditions and the current value at the time they are 
valued, otherwise known as Fair Value, which provides security of their value and 
continued benefit to the Council. 
 
 

  

Page 86



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  15 | 17 
 

Table 11: Non-treasury investments 

 

Non-treasury investments £ million 

Bridgend Science Park - Units 1 & 2             3.070 

Waterton Cross Land             0.560 

Brynmenyn Industrial Estate Plot 53             0.675  

Village Farm Plots 32,119 & 120             0.385  

Tyrewise Bridgend             0.200  

Total at Fair Value             4.890 

Anticipated annual return 2025-26            0.458 

 
The Council considers that the scale of its investment properties is proportionate to the 
resources of the Council as the investment represents less than 1% of its total long-
term assets. In addition, the value of these investments has increased from the 
previous year. 
 
In accordance with Welsh Government Investment Guidance these are classified as 
non-treasury investments.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  

Page 87



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  16 | 17 
 

Schedule A – Credit Rating Equivalence Table 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



TREASURY MANAGEMENT HALF YEAR REPORT TO 30 SEPTEMBER 2025 2025-2026 

 

 

 

P a g e  17 | 17 
 

Schedule B – Arlingclose Economic & Interest Rate Forecast – September 2025 
 

Current Dec-25 Mar-26 Jun-26 Sep-26 Dec-26 Mar-27 Jun-27 Sep-27 Dec-27 Mar-28 Jun-28 Sep-28 

Official Bank Rate 
                        Upside risk 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 

Central Case 4.00 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 3.75 

Downside risk 0.00 -0.25 -0.25 -0.50 -0.75 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 

3-month money market rate                     Upside risk 0.00 0.25 0.25 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 0.50 

Central Case 4.01 3.80 3.75 3.80 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 3.85 

Downside risk 0.00 -0.25 -0.25 -0.50 -0.75 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 -1.00 

5yr gilt yield                       Upside risk 0.00 0.65 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 

Central Case 4.10 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 4.00 

Downside risk 0.00 -0.65 -0.70 -0.75 -0.80 -0.85 -0.90 -0.95 -1.00 -1.05 -1.05 -1.05 -1.05 

10yr gilt yield                       Upside risk 0.00 0.65 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 

Central Case 4.68 4.50 4.45 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.40 4.40 

Downside risk 0.00 -0.65 -0.70 -0.75 -0.80 -0.85 -0.90 -0.95 -1.00 -1.05 -1.05 -1.05 -1.05 

20yr gilt yield                       Upside risk 0.00 0.65 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 

Central Case 5.37 5.20 5.10 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 5.00 

Downside risk 0.00 -0.65 -0.70 -0.75 -0.80 -0.85 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 

50yr gilt yield                       Upside risk 0.00 0.65 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 0.70 

Central Case 4.87 4.80 4.75 4.65 4.70 4.70 4.70 4.70 4.70 4.70 4.70 4.70 4.70 

Downside risk 0.00 -0.65 -0.70 -0.75 -0.80 -0.85 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 -0.90 

 

• The Bank of England’s Monetary Policy Committee voted 7-2 to maintain Bank 
Rate at 4.0% in September, in line with market expectations. While continuing 
to signal the expectation of “gradual and careful” policy easing, the Monetary 
Policy Committee minutes also emphasised some committee members’ 
concerns about second round inflation effects. The shift in the committee’s 
focus over the past few months has increased uncertainty over the timing of the 
next rate cut. 

• The committee’s sensitivity to higher inflation is partly offsetting the effect of the 
weak economic environment on Bank Rate expectations. However, our external 
advisors continue to forecast one more 25bps rate cut in Q4 2025 to 3.75%, 
while recognising that uncertainty over the timing of this move has increased. 

• Inflation remained at 3.8% in August, but the expectation is for the Consumer 
Price Index (CPI) rate to peak around 4% this month and remain elevated into 
next year. The rise is largely the result of higher food and regulated prices, and 
labour costs. Services inflation remains elevated but has eased recently. 
Inflation expectations have picked up, but this is likely largely the result of the 
noticeable rise in food prices. 

• Long-term gilt yields remain elevated for various reasons, both domestic and 
international. These issues may not be resolved quickly, but the UK Budget will 
be a key market driver. 

Page 89



This page is intentionally left blank



Meeting of:  COUNCIL  

Date of Meeting: 19 NOVEMBER 2025 

Report Title: 
 

COUNCIL TAX BASE 2026-27 

 

Report Owner / 

Responsible Chief Officer / 
Cabinet Member 
  

CHIEF OFFICER – FINANCE, HOUSING AND 

CHANGE 

 

CABINET MEMBER FOR FINANCE AND 

PERFORMANCE 

Responsible Officer: 
HELEN RODGERS 

REVENUES MANAGER 

Policy Framework 

and Procedure 

Rules: 

The council tax base is set in accordance with the 

Policy Framework and Budget Procedure Rules. 

Executive 

Summary: 

The purpose of this report is to seek Council 

approval for the estimated council tax base for 2026-

27, as required by legislation.  

 

The estimated net council tax base is 55793.37 

based on a collection rate of 97.5%, which takes into 

account the current economic climate.  

 

Council is also required to approve the tax bases for 

the individual town and community areas for 2026-

27. 

 
 

1. Purpose of Report 
 
1.1 The purpose of this report is to seek Council approval for the estimated council 

tax base and collection rate for 2026-27. This includes approval of the 
individual tax bases for the town and community areas as detailed in 
Appendix A.  

 

2. Background 
 
2.1 Under the Local Government Finance Act 1992 and the Local Authorities 

(Calculation of Council tax base) (Wales) Regulations 1995, as amended, the 
Council is required to set the council tax base upon which council tax is levied 
by the authority and other precepting bodies, for the following financial year, 
prior to 31 December each year. This information is required by the Welsh 

           Government to allocate the Revenue Support Grant (RSG) to local authorities 
and by the Council to calculate the council tax required to fund the 2026-27 
budget. 

 

Page 91

Agenda Item 10



2.2      The council tax base is the measure of the relative taxable capacity of     
different areas within the County Borough and is calculated in accordance with 
prescribed rules. Every domestic property in the County Borough has been 
valued by the Valuation Office. Once valued, properties are allocated one of 
nine valuation bands (Bands A to I). Each band is multiplied by a given factor 
to bring it to the Band D equivalent as set out in the table below: 

 
  

Valuation 
Band 

Tax 
Proportion 

Percentage 
of Band D 

A 6/9 67% 

B 7/9 78% 

C 8/9 89% 

D 9/9 100% 

E 11/9 122% 

F 13/9 144% 

G 15/9 167% 

H 18/9 200% 

I 21/9 233% 

 
 
2.3 The Tax Base represents the number of chargeable dwellings in the area 

expressed as Band D equivalents, taking into account the total number of 
exemptions, discounts and disabled band reductions, with the net tax base 
calculated by taking account of the Council’s estimated collection rate. Council 
tax is measured in ‘Band D’ equivalents as the standard for comparing council 
tax levels between and across local authorities.  

  
3. Current situation / proposal 
 
3.1 The gross estimated council tax base for 2026-27 is 57223.97 Band D 

equivalent properties and the estimated collection rate is 97.5%. The net 
council tax base is, therefore, 55793.37. The estimated collection rate has 
been maintained at a rate of 97.5% to reflect the current challenging economic 
circumstances globally, the ongoing cost-of-living crisis leading to a higher 
number of citizens facing economic hardship, and current collection rates. The 
collection of council tax income will be monitored during the financial year and 
any proposed changes to the collection rate included within the council tax 
base report for 2027-28 in November 2026.  
  

3.2 The council tax base is provided to Welsh Government and is used to calculate 
the amount of Revenue Support Grant (RSG) that a local authority receives in 
the Local Government Revenue Settlement. In order to ensure consistency 
across Wales, when determining the RSG, Welsh Government takes no 
account of Councils’ assumptions about collection rates - for the purpose of 
distributing RSG collection rates are assumed to be 100%. Welsh Government 
also disregards local decisions around council tax premiums when calculating 
the RSG allocations. The amount of council tax due for a dwelling in Band D is 
calculated by dividing the annual budget requirement to be funded by 

Page 92



taxpayers by the council tax base. A set formula is then used to calculate the 
liability for the remaining eight Bands. 

 
3.3     The council tax element of the Council’s budget requirement for 2026-27 will be 

based on the net council tax base of 55793.37. Although the Council calculates 
the tax base for the whole of the County Borough, separate calculations are 
provided for each Town and Community Council. This council tax base is used 
by precepting authorities in calculating their own individual precepts. Town and 
Community Councils base their precepts on the tax base for each town and 
community area and details of these are shown in Appendix A. 
 

4. Equality implications (including Socio-economic Duty and Welsh 
Language) 

 
4.1 The protected characteristics identified within the Equality Act, Socio-economic 

Duty and the impact on the use of the Welsh Language have been considered 
in the preparation of this report. As a public body in Wales the Council must 
consider the impact of strategic decisions, such as the development or the 
review of policies, strategies, services and functions. It is considered that there 
will be no significant or unacceptable equality impacts as a result of this report.  

 
5.  Well-being of Future Generations implications and connection to 

Corporate Well-being Objectives 
 
5.1 The Act provides the basis for driving a different kind of public service in 

Wales, with five ways of working to guide how public services should work to 
deliver for people. The well-being objectives are designed to complement each 
other and are part of an integrated way of working to improve well-being for the 
people of Bridgend. It is considered that there will be no significant or 
unacceptable impacts upon the achievement of the well-being goals or 
objectives as a result of this report. 
 

6.  Climate Change and Nature Implications 
 
6.1 There are no climate change or nature implications arising from this report. 
 
7        Safeguarding and Corporate Parent Implications 
 
7.1     There are no safeguarding and corporate parent implications arising from this          

report. 
 
8. Financial Implications 
 
8.1 These are outlined in the report. 

 
9. Recommendations 
 
9.1      Council is recommended to: 
 

Page 93



• approve the council tax base and collection rate for 2026-27 as shown 
in paragraph 3.1 of this report. 

• approve the tax bases for the town and community areas set out in 
Appendix A.  

 
 
 
Background documents:    
None 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

Page 94



 
 

Appendix A 
 

 
Estimated County Borough Tax Base 2026-27 

 
 

 
Community Council Area 

 
Total Tax 

Base 
(No. Band D 
Equivalent 
Properties) 

 
Estimated 
Collection 
Percentage 

 

 
Net 

Tax Base 
(No. Band D 
Equivalent 
Properties) 

Brackla 4273.11 97.5% 4166.28 

Bridgend 6305.08 97.5% 6147.45 

Cefn Cribwr 567.92 97.5% 553.72 

Coity Higher 4305.36 97.5% 4197.73 

Cornelly 2645.08 97.5% 2578.95 

Coychurch Higher 364.03 97.5% 354.93 

Coychurch Lower 692.53 97.5% 675.22 

Garw Valley 2370.94 97.5% 2311.67 

Laleston 5187.03 97.5% 5057.35 

Llangynwyd Lower 176.75 97.5% 172.33 

Llangynwyd Middle 1070.72 97.5% 1043.95 

Maesteg 5868.86 97.5% 5722.14 

Merthyr Mawr 147.31 97.5% 143.63 

Newcastle Higher 1979.61 97.5% 1930.12 

Ogmore Valley 2724.33 97.5% 2656.22 

Pencoed 3563.89 97.5% 3474.79 

Porthcawl 8556.50 97.5% 8342.59 

Pyle 2612.56 97.5% 2547.25 

St Brides Minor 2373.36 97.5% 2314.03 

Ynysawdre 1439.00 97.5% 1403.02 

 
Total County Borough 57223.97 

 
97.5% 

 
55793.37 

 

Page 95



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 97

Agenda Item 17
By virtue of paragraph(s) 12 of Part 4 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	ourref1
	yourref1

	3 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion
	4 Cyflwyniad i'r Cyngor gan Materion Iechyd Meddwl
	7 Ymateb Cychwynnol i Asesiad PPA a Newidiadau Arfaethedig i Strwythur Uwch Reoli JNC
	8 Diweddariad Chwarter 2 y Rhaglen Gyfalaf 2025-26
	01878S1Harmony
	Chilbolton
	Funding Excel 2007 format

	9 Adroddiad Hanner Blwyddyn Rheoli'r Trysorlys 2025-26
	Appendix A - Treasury Management Half Year Report 25-26

	10 Sylfaen Treth y Cyngor 2026-27
	17 Cymeradwyaeth Cofnodion wedi’u Eithrio

